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£ FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BB E

Result E4
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20224 20214 20204 20194 20184
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TE | ARBTE ARBTE AR®TRE AR®TR

Revenue U 2 45,738 43,949 38,891 63,377 43,385
Profit before tax B 5% A0 i A 28,518 24,908 25,215 33,316 35,300
Income tax expense FiT 15 35 5 32 (6,488) (6,768) (7,674) (9,765) (7,053)

Profit and total comprehensive KRAHEBANENL
income for the year attributable ~ FEREFIFE2®

to owners of the Company W & R 5 22,030 18,140 17,541 23,551 28,247
Assets and Liabilities EERAE
As at 31 December
M12A318
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20224 20214 2020%F 20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTT | ARBTT ARBTI ARETE ARETZR

Total assets BEE 302,290 279,139 253,376 235,344 220,963
Total liabilities =N 92,098 90,977 83,354 82,863 92,033
Total equity attributable to owners AR A B A EMG

of the Company TS B 210,192 188,162 170,022 152,481 128,930
Financial Statistics B 7 &5 5t

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

20225 20214 20204 20195 20184

Current ratio mE L & 14.3 10.5 12.1 9.3 5.2

Gearing ratio (%)’ EEBELE%) 30.5 32.6 32.9 35.2 417

Return on total assets (%)? 1B E B R E (%) 7.3 6.5 6.9 10.0 12.8

Net profit margin (%)* % NE E (%) 48.2 41.3 45.1 372 65.1
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Financial Summary

B E

Key Financial Data

FTEMBEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20224 20214 2020 20194 20184
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
AR AR AR AR AR
Earnings per share — basic® BRAF — EAES 0.022 0.018 0.018 0.024 0.028
Net assets value per share® FREEFES 0.21 0.19 0.170 0.152 0.129
Notes: B 3E -
1. Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current liabilities. 1. MBEEDRADEERUARD BETHE -
2. Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the total liabilities by total assets. 2. EEABHEDRBABRUNAEETE -
3. Return on total assets is calculated by dividing the profit for the year 3. BEERREDNERFANEMNRANBREETE -

by total assets.

4. Net profit margin is calculated by dividing the profit for the year by
revenue.

5. Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to
owners of the Company for the year by weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

6. Net assets value per share is calculated by dividing the net assets by
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
Net assets represent total assets less total liabilities.

4. FNEEDRFERNENGRASEBE -

5. BRANTDRARRFE ARG FRREN R IAF
NEBTEBR 2 NETHE8EE -

6. BREEFENDRFEAERAFAEHTERRK
ZIMEFHHAHE - AEFERCEAENLERE -

2022 - EBWME R ARAR 5
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£ CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ITRBES

Dear honourable shareholders,

During the Period, the Group was principally engaged in the sale of burial plots and
columbarium units, provision of other burial-related services and provision of cemetery

maintenance services.

ENEHHRRE:

RZHAEA AEETERFHEZ MWL ERE -

AR 75 o

Dear Shareholders,

Hello, everyone! The beginning of a new year symbolizes a fresh and
auspicious start. Spring has arrived with a clear blue sky, and the
earth comes alive. In this beautiful season, please allow me, on
behalf of the Board of the Company and for my personal self, to
express my sincere respect and heartfelt blessings to all
shareholders, investors and friends from all sectors for your long
lasting caring and support!

| am pleased to present, on behalf of the Board of Directors of
China Wan Tong Yuan (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”), the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2022. In 2022, with the epidemic continuously
lingered on and resurged, the global economic vulnerability was
more prominent, bringing various challenges and ordeals to the
society and people’s livelihood. During the year, we stayed true to
our original aspirations, put customers and services first, fully
demonstrated the spirit of overcoming difficulties and forging ahead
and vigorously promoted the steady development of all businesses
and achieved a stable growth. In 2022, the operating revenue of the
Company amounted to RMB45.7 million and the profit attributable
to shareholders amounted to RMB22.0 million.
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REEBEZHERS MEREE

Zhao Ying,
Non-Executive Director and Chairman

HE FATEERER

BE NS ABR

ARG —BlG BREH -EESENEH B
MPHENFE SAFRKRARESTRAENRK
BA#ZE AEHUKEL XFHRMHNZER
R REE BRAPRBARLEEHHNEN
A i |

RAABREFEERE (ZR)BRAR(ARA])
EEeMARZARAREWNB AR (R A%
B DEZE202F12A3HELFENKEEZEAN
TEHME 2022F BEHERBLES - HREER
BUEEMRE HeREKATBREEE B =
EH-E—F BABRTHNL BFEFEL BRES
— RAOBBUBRCH EREDNBY - 2NE
BREEBTREE RIFTRERIEE 20224 -
NABEWANEIARKLASTEE L WEEMLS
FERARE22088T-



Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

Changing with times and continuously improving various
facilities and services. In adapting to the new situation of
normalised epidemic prevention and control, we highlighted the
ecological, humanistic, civilised and technological characteristics
development. By focusing on innovation and breakthroughs in
facilities, products and services, we actively improved the road
conditions in burial areas, the cemetery business hall, the
columbarium storage building, service areas and the overall
environment of the cemetery; constantly organised and conducted
professional trainings with diversified contents in various forms to
improve burial services. We vigorously advocated online tomb-
sweepings (#34% £247), flowers tomb-sweepings (8 7££24%), tombs-
sweepings service on behalf of customers (X% £#F), cloud tomb-
sweeping (£ £ 1) and other forms of tombs-sweepings and
deepened burial reform to promote the changing of customs. We
established the intelligent cemetery management system and
improved intelligent and digital management, which greatly facilitate
the life of citizens and lay a solid foundation for the further
development of the Company.

Consolidating foundations and achieving steady growth in
principal business. In 2022, the Company fully leveraged its rich
experience in cemetery development, burial services, columbarium
storage, operation and management and vigorously propelled all
works in an orderly manner. It successfully won the bidding for the
project on the outsourcing of extended burial services of Langfang
Funeral Parlor (35 ™ & & £8), making active contributions to
safeguarding people’s livelihood and the burial services in Langfang.
It strengthened cooperation with outstanding providers of burial
services in outside regions and deployed on the burial market in the
Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis.

Carrying forward original aspirations and continuously
advancing social and public welfare undertakings. The Company
has been delivering the solemn commitment of “to the satisfaction
of people in both worlds” for years. While promoting the
development of various businesses, the Company stayed true to its
original aspirations, organised and carried out diversified public
activities and communal memorial activities in Ching Ming Festival,
Dragon Boat Festival, Chung Yeung Festival and other traditional
festivals as well as Teachers’ Day, Army’s Day, National Day, National
Memorial Day and other important occasions. It fulfilled
responsibilities with undertakings and returned the society with
warmest heart. Under the philosophy of “respecting life, returning to
nature, displaying humanity and upholding eternal commemoration”,
the Company constantly promoted patriotic education, actively
disseminated positive energy in society and was generally recognised
by all walks of life and citizens.

ERmE SRARERBEFHTE - ERZED
BERLCHTLE RABHREERE AN X
B0 BERE Em RESZHEE
TTRIFT R - BT EE R - EREHARE -
EREHFE REBEAREBERRBRE THA
BARTAZE RRLENEXEI - EBHAE
BERMBKF  ENEGHERT  HERFE KT
£iF ERERFEERBAN  RCERNE - #HER
ESH BEREEREEERS BASRL
FIEBKF BRMTETHRNEE BB
RAE-—FHEREETEENER -

BETE FTHEEBLERTEBRE 20229 27
ROBEBEEEEME  BERE BREF - EE
EREFTEAMEELR  BEHOAFHEESEIE
IR IZE R GBI EREZEREINRIER -
BRELSREFEBHBEERSGIEL TREGEE -
mAEIMMBREBEFRERBAGE R RZE
HEREMSG -

BERAL  HERBBERILED - ZHFR - QAFR
RREF(EMELTROABDEIOHEB AR &
HESHAEBERNRE BTLENL - £5
BRE - iR T AR - ERETFEAE A A RENE - 2
By BER BERAKASEERHEE A8
FREEZFNAZLHNASEEE UEERE
TEE BELOREE WAEELMm  OF
BA RRAX KALZIB/RE  THHETE
BHE BEREELSLEE RETHESR
MEARTRE —BRA -

2022 - EBWME R ARAR 7
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’ Chairman’s Statement
TRERMEE

Years are flying like an arrow and times are changing with each FATE  EZHH - 2023FEMHA T &H A —
passing day. 2023 has opened up a new page. In the new year, we B ¥&—F BMBHEEELAELERE A
will continue to focus on cemetery operation, funeral services and ZEREERYE EEHERESEE  BEHRERE
cemetery maintenance, actively explore capital operations and strive  AREEFT N BHIEAEEERETERENEGEAS
to enhance the comprehensive service capability in the Jing-Jin-Ji FBRIFEET » NBEMAEZERE S FENEEERX
region. With leading funeral concept, advanced management model HMEZDHNRE KT ABEEELERTEH T AT
and premier services, we will consistently inject new drivers to the B H - MEEZ FEHEWREM - Wi EFH AL,
development of the funeral and burial industry. While setting grand - :EZRFIBHBERE2E  UAKHAFHRD
goals, we must stay down-to-earth. Standing at the new starting R FEHI/NEH BUMEANT N -BREH#HD
point, let us go all out to depict our dreams and forge ahead #&/) - & EiEEFEMERKEBHE |

towards our future with perpetual perseverance, endless efforts,

strong willpower and unequaled courage!

China Wan Tong Yuan (Holdings) Limited TEEBREGER)BRAR
Zhao Ying Chairman of the Board EFe T/ BE
29 March 2023, Hong Kong 202353H29H - &#
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN W& D

Business Review

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in the sale of
burial plots, provision of other burial-related services and provision of
cemetery maintenance services in Langfang, the PRC.

Sales of burial plots and provision of other burial-related
services

Burial services were the largest component of our revenue,
representing 89.2% of our revenue for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: 89.7%).

The burial services market in Langfang is concentrated. Demand for
our burial services and growth in our revenue are driven by the
overall demand for burial services in Langfang and the Jing-Jin-Ji
megalopolis at large. We believe our reputation, quality of services,
and well-maintained and conveniently located facilities allow us to
compete effectively in Langfang. The Company is optimistic that this
operation will be continuously developed and expanded.

Provision of cemetery maintenance services

We provide ongoing cemetery maintenance services as an integral
part of our burial services to maintain our beautiful landscaped
cemetery. Customers pay for maintenance fees upfront when they
sign the sales contracts to purchase the burial plots. Our revenue
from cemetery maintenance was RMB5.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 (2021: RMB4.5 million).

Business Outlook and Recent Development

The months around the Qing Ming Festival, a traditional festival for
tomb sweeping, including February, March and April, have always
been the peak seasons for the sales of the Group’s burial services. In
addition to the customers with normal demands of purchasing burial
plots for interment after their relatives passed away and being
cremated, we expect that there will be demands for burial plots and
funeral rites for those deceased during the outbreak of the
pandemic, to be materialised in 2023 and 2024. Also, there will be
customers who need to relocate columbarium or graves in the
process of urban demolition and renovation to purchase a burial
plots or choose a columbarium storage service tailored to their

needs. The Group will continue to uphold its belief, improve
supporting environmental facilities, enrich product offerings and
enhance quality, and persist in upgrading our “Cloud

Tomb-sweeping” services. On top of ensuring stable and ordered
operation, we will continue to innovate and enhance our cemetery
operations and provide quality services to our customers.

E 3 JE)
FRAEBIBREEFEBYHERE Y R
{51 1t B 300 4 A AR 5 9 41 L D 4 SR -

& 2 N 12 K fth 23 48 B AR 75

BERGERMUENTAERT D  HEHE
2022912 A318 1E F E F M Y = #989.2% (2021
F:89.7%) °

BYBRERBTSEET HEMABZRFEOEX
REMNKREERTABY RBERZELTE
BERBNERTRTE - RMBEEEHEMD
BE RBER #ERTFRMUEBRBMORE &
MAIERSARBES ARAAH L ERSHER
F 8 ok R B S8R -

REEEHERS

B ERRBEERE SR ERES &
EREMBEZRBE IR —R - BFPEEE
EMEEANRNIRA XN EES - 5220220
NRANBLEFE BMEEEELERENORE B
ARBESOEE L (20214 : A\REASHEE L) ©

EEREREOHEE

—ENR ROERRFHAFHE 2344
REAEERFRBHEENSEY KRTERBE
HAERBELZENETTREP U BHE
BZAERBEHRERBEENEFPESHMFE
BBEM IAFERTREEN TEHER
MRBEETPHFR2ETERRERZBRNEFR
REFRKEEEUNEREERTERYE - A&
BINg@®ERFT —EARNES  BALERE
LEEMARELE FEARREERIERET]
R EREREAFELENAE  HEHTR
HTREEEERATPIREELNRE -

2022 F#H-HEBWMEZERARAR 9
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EIRE R Mo

The Group aspires to strengthen its market position in Langfang and
expand its business in the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis and beyond
through the following strategies.

Focus on developing the JV Cemetery Project

The joint venture cemetery project (the “JV Cemetery Project”)
between the Group and Langfang Xinhangcheng Real Estate
Development Co., Limited (EE3Fm#H MK E b EFRZEER QA 7),
"Xinhangcheng”) is one of the major development projects of the
Group. The Group will continue its proactive development and keep
communicating with related governmental departments regarding
matters concerning land expropriation and land use planning, and
make every effort to facilitate the approval procedures for the
operating cemeteries. The Directors believe that the implementation
and the continued development of and investment into the JV
Cemetery Project will facilitate the Group in consolidating and
expanding its market position in Langfang and the Jing-Jin-Ji
megalopolis.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to selectively acquire,
invest in or enter into strategic partnerships with other death care
services providers, including funeral services providers and cemetery
operators. The Group's selection criteria are based on, among other
things, brand name, location, land cost, land reserves and
profitability. The Group generally favors cemeteries located in
wealthy and densely populated provinces, where there is a higher
demand for high-quality death care services. In particular, the Group
seeks to prioritise business expansion opportunities with death care
services providers in the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis and bring synergy to
its current operations. Meanwhile, it will also explore potential
acquisition or investment in other regions. In addition to the
downstream industry of burial services, the Group is also committed
to seeking development in the upstream industry, for example,
palliative care services, to explore potential business opportunities
and to identify strategic alliance. Therefore, the Directors believe that
the Group will achieve industrial integration from aging to burial for
a diverse range of customers.

10 CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE LD

Strengthen the market position in Langfang

Apart from the above JV Cemetery Project which facilitate the Group
in further consolidating its market position and reputation in
Langfang, the Company believes that a more elegant environment of
the cemetery with warmer, more diversified and person-centered
services would enable the Company to address the customers’
various needs and preferences. Thus, the Group will launch various
product types at different price point and optimize its funeral
services. Meanwhile, the Group will continuously upgrade, optimise
and further develop its cemetery, especially the environment in
cemeteries, with a view to upgrading its facilities and diversifying its
service offerings. In addition to the further development of its
cemetery as mentioned above, in terms of our funeral services, the
Group will add more professional and diverse services. The Group
will also boost its effort in promotion and marketing, utilising online
sales platforms to promote the services of the Group through
multiple channels.

In addition, in view of the rapid development of Langfang, which is
benefited from the overall development of the Jing-Jin-Ji
megalopolis, the local government has been carrying out the urban
planning and construction. During this process, it may involve the
migration of the villagers and resettlement of the cremains of their
deceased relatives. As a licensed and well established cemetery, in
possession of both capability and capacity, the Group provides
columbarium collective storage services to meet the demand arising
from the local government’s city development plan on one hand, and
broaden its income source on the other hand. The Group will
continue to cooperate with and support the local government’s city
development plan, providing funeral services and columbarium
storage services and undertaking tomb moving projects and adding
columbarium storage services for multiple villages at Beijing New

Airport Zone (Langfang Region).

The Directors believe that, with the brand power and the well-
established reputation of the Group accumulated over a long time,
as well as the continued development of the projects above, we will
further consolidate and strengthen the Group’s market position in
Langfang.
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y Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE LD

Expand the business scope to provide
funeral services

The Group generated substantially all of its revenue from burial
services and has also forged stable business relationships with a
number of local funeral services providers which refer customers to
the Group. The Group also successfully won the bid of the Langfang
Funeral Parlour’s outsourcing project for extended burial services
during the previous year, offering one-stop-shop funeral services to
the customers, including etiquettes, rules, wake and farewell
ceremony, which will continue to provide a stable source of
customers for the Group in the next two to three years. The
Directors believe that one-stop-shop services integrating funeral and
burial services are able to confer a significant competitive advantage,
while also ensuring a seamless and smooth experience at each stage
of the process. In addition, the Group’s staffs providing extended
burial services in Langfang Funeral Parlour (BB M 3E#E£E) can
introduce cemetery-related services to customers and deal with pre-
service business. The Group will continue to provide professional and
general skill training for its employees and recruit funeral service
specialists, in order to provide more professional and comprehensive
services to our customers.

The Group will step up from providing only burial services to
providing integrated funeral services and burial services, where we
will launch different product types at different price points and add
more professional and diverse extended services in aspects such as
burial plot maintenance, burial and tomb-sweeping, so as to expand
and enhance our service package. Meanwhile, the Group will
proactively negotiate with the government and related departments
of Langfang concerning the future cooperation plans, in order to
provide more services for the locals and our customers, including the
provision of burial services, funeral services and columbarium storage
services, expanding our coverage through multiple channels.

The Group believes that the active progression and development of
the JV Cemetery Project together with the bid of the Langfang
extended funeral services can further strengthen the brand power
and reputation of the Group and allow for further recognition from
the local government, which will facilitate the Group in competing
for cooperation and expansion opportunities, and generate
significant revenue for the Group.

12 CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE LD

Tapping further into the burial market in the
Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis

Leveraging the Group’s strategic location in Langfang and proximity
to regional hubs in the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis, the Group continues
to pay effort to tap further into the burial services market in this
region, especially in Beijing, where affordable burial plots have
become increasingly sparse and local residents become increasingly
mobile with the integration of communities and the construction of
a web of high-speed intercity transportation infrastructure. The
Group plans to devote more marketing resources to serving the
neighboring cities and further develop cooperation with local funeral
services providers as its business partners. Meanwhile, the Group
plans to cooperate with local funeral homes and hospital mortuaries
to access bereaved families in a more direct and more prompt way,
so that the Group can react immediately to provide high-quality
one-stop-shop services integrating funeral and burial services for its
prospective customers.

Pursuing strategic alliance and acquisition
opportunities

Since the GEM listing, the Group has performed preliminary site visits
and researched for some potential acquisition opportunities for the
purpose of pursuing strategic alliance and acquisition opportunities
according to the future plans set out in the prospectus. Langfang
Wantong Public Cemetery Co., Limited (B3 & A AE B 2 al,
“Langfang Wantong”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, successfully won the bid of the JV Cemetery Project in
2020 and entered into a formal joint venture agreement with
Xinhangcheng to jointly establish Langfang Linkong Wantong Public
Cemetery Co., Limited (BB¥iERZ= &R AEZGR A F), which is
responsible for land resumption, construction and operations and
management of the JV Cemetery Project. From 2021 to 2022, the
Group tapped into the funeral market in the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis,
continued the comprehensive development of the JV Cemetery
Project in an active manner, and made periodic progress in planning
and design, land acquisition and relocation. Meanwhile, the Group
will continue to explore other suitable opportunities for strategic
alliance and acquisition in the future.
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Major and Connected Transaction

The Group entered into a loan agreement with China VAST
Industrial Urban Development Company Limited (/1 B 7= Z5 & % 1 $8
ZERAMR AR (“China VAST”) on 7 May 2021, pursuant to which
the Group has provided the loan in the principal amount of
RMB100,000,000 (or its equivalent in Hong Kong dollars) to China
VAST for a term of one year at an interest rate of 12% per annum.

On 16 May 2022, the Company and China VAST entered into the
deed of extension (the “Deed of Extension”), pursuant to which the
parties have conditionally agreed that, among others, with effect
from 2 July 2022, the original repayment date (i.e. 1 July 2022) shall
be extended for a period of 24 months, and all the material terms
and conditions of the Loan Agreement shall remain in full force and
effect.

At the extraordinary general meeting held on 30 June 2022, the
resolution in relation to the Deed of Extension was voted on by way
of poll. As the resolution was not passed by a majority of more than
50% of the votes, the transaction under the Deed of Extension
lapsed. The principal and interest on the loan was fully repaid by
China VAST in July 2022.

Development and Fund Utilization Plan

The Cemetery JV Project is a major development project of the
Group, details of which are set out in the announcement and
circular of the Company dated 30 June 2020 and 24 August 2020,
respectively. As at the date of this report, the JV Company has been
jointly established by Langfang Wantong and Xinhangcheng.

The Company has been in the progress of obtaining relevant
approvals from government authorities for the construction of an
operational cemetery. In view of the outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic in the past years, as well as the scale and complexity
involved in the overall urban planning (including without limitation
development, economic and environment aspects) in relation to the
Beijing Daxing International Airport Economic Zone* (b & K &1 5 (R
35 5 22 48 75 [2), of which the Cemetery JV Project forms part, the
Company understands that the government approval and assessment
process remains to be on-going.
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The Group has been continuously liaising with the government as to
such approval, including submission of development and business
plans and discussions. The Group has also been conducting research
and optimizing its design and development plan in respect of the
Cemetery JV Project. The Group has engaged professional design and
development firms in the PRC to assist with the overall design and
planning of the Cemetery JV Project, including but not limited to
ideology and message conveyance, safety, noise, air space and
pollution control, marketing and target customer research,
transportation and crowd control, art and cultural design,
environmental projection. By the end of 2022, the Group has
formulated several specific development plans for final determination
and consultation with the governmental authorities.

Following the gradual alleviation of social distancing and other
pandemic containment measures and restrictions in the PRC, the
development plan and endeavours of the Group are expected to be
progressively back to normalcy. It is the Company’s aim to further
expand its operations and strengthen its market position in Langfang
and expand its business in the Jing-Jin-Ji megalopolis and beyond by
giving the Cemetery JV Project a full play. As at 31 December 2022,
the Company had bank balances and cash of RMB211,284,000,
representing an excellent liquidity position. The Company is
confident that the Company will be able to swiftly and efficiently
allocate and utilize such immediately available funds as development
costs of the Cemetery JV Project as and when required. The
Company has been preparing for the further development of the
business of the Group, and believes that it is in a good position to
grasp opportunities with the cash accumulated, which gives the
Group flexibility and minimizes financing costs for development.

As at the date of this report, the registered capital of the JV
Company of RMB23.7 million payable by Langfang Wantong has not
been paid. Following the re-activation of the Cemetery JV Project,
the Group expected that such registered capital will be paid-in in
order to give the JV Company initial capital to kick-start the
development of the Cemetery JV Project.
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Subject to government approvals, in 2023 and 2024, the Group will
build operating burial plots for sales in the New Airport (Langfang
area), Relocation and Settlement Zone, Beijing* (It R #1115 (BRI &
15) B8 % & [&) and partial storage of the cremation urns and urns
for villagers of the relocated village in the airport economic zone,
which will involve land resumption and acquisition of land by way of
public auction by the JV Company for the purpose of constructing
and developing operational cemeteries. It is estimated that the Group
will incur capital commitment of approximately RMB85 million.
Pursuant to the JV Agreement, the Group is under the obligation to
provide shareholder’s loan to the JV Company at the interest rate of
6.9% per annum for the Cemetery JV Project should there be capital
requirements. It is reasonably foreseeable that along the land
acquisition costs will initially be funded by the Group’s shareholder’s
loan.

Following the acquisition of land, it is expected that the JV Company
will be engaged in the development and construction of buildings
and ancillary facilities on the land, including office building,
supporting facilities, columbarium and tombs, with total estimated
development costs of approximately RMB50 million. In addition,
administration, labour and other sundry costs to be incurred are
estimated to be approximately RMB4 million.

The Company is of the view that 2023 to 2025 will be an important
period of time for the Group. The Company believes that it is well-
prepared to pursue its corporate goals. Leveraging its financial
resources, the Directors are confident that the Group will benefit
from its investment and create return for its shareholders and
enhance shareholders’ value.
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Financial Review
Revenue

Our revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 was substantially
generated from: (i) sale of burial plots, which includes the control of
the burial plots and headstones and other ancillary products to be
used on the burial plots; (ii) sale of tomb relocation services and
other ancillary products; (iii) other burial-related services such as the
organisation and conducting of interment rituals, the design,
construction and landscaping of the burial plots, and the engraving
of inscriptions and ceramic photographs on the headstones; and (iv)
cemetery maintenance services. The table below sets forth a
breakdown of our revenue:

Bt % [0 B8
Y &

BMEZE2022F12A31H EFEMRZE KI5 K
B (O)WEEE  BEENEFEREERRED
FANEMNEEER: (VHEEERERG RHE
A EE G (VM2 BERE iR
BOLTHEEAURBEHNR B2ERSEH R
HEEEABYEBEAAAFSEERY  RiVEE
HERS - TERIIEMA U =AL -

Year ended 31 December

HZNAMBLEE
2022 2021
2022F 20214
Percentage of Percentage of
Revenue total revenue Revenue total revenue
1 % HB s
U 35 Btk I &= Bok
(RMB'000) % (RMB'000) %
(AR¥® T ) % (AR®BTT) %
Burial business BIEETS

Sales of burial plots HEBH 26,869 58.7% 30,356 69.1%
Sales of columbarium units $HE B IRE — 0.0% 4,874 1.1%

Provision of tomb RUEERBRS
relocation services 7,629 16.7% — —

Provision of other R4t H b 2 5t 4R B
burial-related services R 7% 6,280 13.7% 4,188 9.5%
40,778 89.2% 39,418 89.7%

Provision of cemetery maintenance 1% it & & # & R %

services 4,960 10.8% 4,531 10.3%
45,738 100% 43,949 100%
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Cost of sales and services iHE X AR 7 K A

Cost of sales and services consists primarily of the costs we incurred & RIRGK AT ERFER M HEE LIRE RS
in relation to the sales and provision of our services. Our cost of E AR o HFI2022F M & M IRERK A B A
sales and services was RMB11.6 million in 2022 (2021: RMB7.6 ER#¥11.68 8T (Q021F: AR¥B76B 8 T) © 18
million), with an increase of 52.6%. h52.6% -

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE
2022 2021

20224 20214
Percentage of Percentage of
total cost of total cost of
Cost of sales sales and Cost of sales sales and
and services services and services services
HBHEER HEEER
HER PR % FE A< HE R R 7% BX A
BB %% B A8 Btk AR 7 AX 2 Bt
(RMB’000) % (RMB’000) %
(ARET ) % (AR®BF ) %
Burial business I 11,141 95.9% 7,004 92.7%
Cemetery maintenance X [E # & 472 4.1% 550 7.3%
11,613 100% 7,554 100%

The Group’s cost of sales and services consists primarily of the costs ANEBHEERREX AT EIERHREES
it incurred in relation to the provision of its services, including the HIA(ZA @ BIFE@RAAK - BROBEBEK A « THIL
headstone cost, construction cost of columbaria, land acquisition — BEAKAN - HE AR A - BZER R A K E A o
cost, cemetery maintenance cost, burial-related cost and others.

The Group’s cost of sales and services for burial services increased  AEEEBEZEREH 88 & M IRFEK A H20215E 6 A
by 58.6% from RMB7.0 million in 2021 to RMB11.1 million in 2022, R ¥7.05 & L1 N58.6% £2022F K A R #11.1
primarily due to the increase in revenue from the provision of tomb B &t £ Z & A M2022F 12 418 E W B I A 18
relocation services in 2022. The Group's cost of sales and services for e NEBE R EHE R E & REK A H20214F
cemetery maintenance decreased from RMBO0.6 million in 2021 to MWARM06EEIL THEE2022FMNARKISEHSE
RMBO.5 million in 2022. JT °
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit represents revenue less cost of sales and services. Our
gross profit for 2022 and 2021 was RMB34.1 million and RMB36.4
million, respectively.

FEF R EFE

T H B0 IR 25 R 85 B KBRS AR AN o 3k 11920224 K
221FWMEFDAIAAREMIBETRARE
3648 -

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A3MBLEE
2022 2021

20225 20214F
Gross Gross profit Gross Gross profit
profit margin profit margin
EF ERER EF EHME
(RMB’000) % (RMB’000) %
(AR®F ) % (AR T T %
Burial business e 29,637 72.7% 32,414 82.2%
Cemetery maintenance 2 [E ## 4,488 90.5% 3,981 87.9%
34,125 74.6% 36,395 82.8%

Our overall gross profit margin for 2022 and 2021 was 74.6% and
82.8%, respectively. Our relatively high gross profit margins during
the year were primarily due to (i) the relatively high gross profit
margins in the burial industry; (ii) our ability to provide high-quality
burial services; and (iii) the relatively low land acquisition cost for our
cemetery.

The lower gross profit margin in burial business for 2022 was mainly
due to higher costs of tomb relocation business resulting in a lower
gross profit margin for the sale of tomb relocation services in 2022.
The gross profit margin percentage of the provision of cemetery
maintenance services increased by approximately 2.6% year-on-year,
mainly due to the lower cost of cemetery maintenance resulting from
the decrease in staff turnover affected by the epidemic.

Other income

The Group's other income decreased slightly by 2.1% from RMB9.7
million in 2021 to RMB9.5 million in 2022.

Distribution and selling expenses

Our distribution and selling expenses increased by 2.6% from
RMB7.6 million for 2021 to RMB7.8 million for 2022. This increase
was primarily due to higher commission and disbursements for
promoting the sales of burial plots during the year.

B M92022F R2021F BB EFEH 5 A74.6%
582.8% - BMMFANEFEHEER S FERH
ROBZEITENEMNEBERS  (DFRMEEMIRHE
EEEZERE  RGiF M E R A L b U B8 K A8
R o

026 EHEEBHEMNETRE  TE2ANEER
BEBRARS  SRR2022F HEBEERER
BOEMERE - ZHEEBHEEREHEN XK
FLRA26%  TERRKBEHZE  BIAER
B BEE#RNMXEE-

H 4 4 A
RNEFHNEMKRABR2021FNAREITHE T/
Mg R 2.1% E2022F M A REEQSH E T ©
DHENEERY

RPN D R EERYH20RIENARK7IE6E &

LI MN2.6% £2022F M ARE78AE &L HIN=E
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Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses increased by 16.3% from RMB8.0
million for 2021 to RMB9.3 million for 2022.

Profit before tax

As a result of the above, our profit before tax increased by 14.5%
from RMB24.9 million for 2021 to RMB28.5 million for 2022.

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense decreased by 4.4% from RMB6.8 million for
2021 to RMB6.5 million for 2022, generally consistent with the
decrease of our gross profit.

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year

Our profit and total comprehensive income for the year increased by
21.5% from RMB18.1 million for 2021 to RMB22.0 million for 2022.
Our net profit margin increased from 41.3% for 2021 to 48.2% for
2022.

Earnings per share

The basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2022
calculated based on the number of 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares
was RMB0.022 (basic earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2021: RMB0.018).

Cash Flow

Our cash and cash equivalents increased by RMB108.1 million, which
was increased to RMB181.3 million as at 31 December 2022 from
RMB73.2 million as at 31 December 2021, principally attributable to
the net cash inflow of RMB100.0 million withdrawal from investing
activities.

Pledge of assets

There was no charge on the Group's assets as at 31 December 2022
and 2021.
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Inventories

Our inventories primarily consist of burial plots, columbarium units,
tombstones and others. The related carrying amounts of the
cemetery assets attributable to the burial plots and columbarium
units are transferred to inventory upon the commencement of
development of cemetery assets into burial plots with the intention
of sale in the ordinary course of business. Tombstones are
recognised as inventory when they are set up in the cemetery and
accepted by the Group. Inventories are transferred to cost when the
customer obtains the control of the burial plot. Our inventories
decreased from RMB23.8 million as at 31 December 2021 to
RMB20.0 million as at 31 December 2022, mainly due to the sale of
the burial plots.

Prepayments and other receivables

Our prepayments and other receivables increased from RMB36.0
million as at 31 December 2021 to RMB41.5 million as at 31
December 2022, mainly due to the advance payment to Langfang
Funeral Parlour for the extended funeral services outsourcing project
of RMB3.0 million.

Trade and other payables

Our trade and other payables decreased by 18.5% from RMB11.9
million as at 31 December 2021 to RMB9.7 million as at 31
December 2022, the decrease is mainly due to the payment of
tombstones to suppliers.

Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities represent the obligations to transfer burial plots
and cemetery maintenance services in accordance with the revenue
recognition policy and the nature of the business.

As at 31 December 2022, current contract liabilities amounted to
RMB5.9 million (31 December 2021: RMB7.4 million). The decrease is
mainly due to the columbarium storage service fees not received in
advance.

As at 31 December 2022, non-current contract liabilities amounted
to RMB70.7 million (31 December 2021: RMB67.3 million). The
increase in non-current contract liabilities is mainly due to increase in
advances from customers during the current year.

Capital structure

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no change to
the capital structure of the Company.
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Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2022, we had bank balances and cash of
approximately RMB211.3 million (2021: RMB84.4 million). We have
financed our working capital, capital expenditures and other capital
requirements primarily through income generated from our
operations. In the future, we expect to fund our capital
expenditures, working capital and other capital requirements from
the Group's bank balances and cash, cash generated from our
operations and other borrowings.

Gearing ratio

The Directors review the capital structure on annual basis. As part of
this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risk
associated with each class of capital. Based on the recommendations
of the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through payment of dividends, issue of new shares and repurchase
of shares as well as issue of new debts or the redemption of
existing debts.

As at 31 December 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group, being total
liabilities to total assets, was 30.5% (2021: 32.6%), which indicated
the Group's healthy liquidity position.

Significant Investment, Material Acquisition and Disposal

The Group did not have significant investment, material acquisition
and disposal during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group had no other future plans
for material investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2022.

Employee remuneration and relations

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 57 employees
(2021: 57 employees). The Group provides employees with
competitive remuneration and benefits, and the remuneration policy
will be reviewed on a regular basis based on the performance and
contribution of the employees and the industry remuneration level. In
addition, the Group also provides various training courses to
enhance the employees’ skills and capabilities in all aspects.

Operating lease

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no operating lease (2021:
RMBO0.2 million).

Commitments

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had RMBO0.5 million capital
commitments in respect of expenditure in intangible assets (2021:
nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Contingent liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2022 (2021: nil).

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s business is principally denominated in Renminbi. As
certain bank deposits are denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
therefore, the Group is exposed to foreign currency exchange risk.
No currency hedging arrangement had been made by the Group
during the year. The Directors have positive attitude to regular
monitor the exposure to foreign exchange so as to reduce the
foreign exchange rate risk to minimal.

SRBE

R2022FNA3ME  AEBTEERNRKAAE
(20214 : 48#)

SN 2 B

AEENEBEIRAARKE - BRE TR
TR ABTTRHE - Bt - REBAZIMNE R - K
SEEFABBETER YR -EFHETE
HEE AT A M S0 FE L B - A 35 AT BE FR (KON BE

B -

2022 - EBWME R ARAR 23



-

ﬁ CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RERBE

The Board is pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company is committed to establish and maintain good corporate
governance practices and procedures. For the year ended 31
December 2022, the Board has adopted its own code on corporate
governance practices which incorporate all the code provisions in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Directors will continue to
review its corporate governance practices in order to enhance its
corporate governance standard and ensure further standards be put
in place by reference to the recommended best practices whenever
suitable and appropriate.

This Corporate Governance Report is to outline the major principles
of the Company’s corporate governance. Shareholders are
encouraged to make their views known to the Group if they have
issues with the Company’s corporate governance and to directly raise
any matters of concern to the chairman of the Board (“Chairman”).

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the
CG Code during the Year.

Board of Directors

Our Board currently consists of seven Directors, comprising one Non-
executive Director (“NED"), three Executive Directors (“EDs"”) and
three Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”). The powers
and duties of our Board include convening general meetings and
reporting our Board’s work at our Shareholders’ meetings,
determining our business and investment plans, preparing our annual
financial budgets and final reports, formulating proposals for profit
distributions as well as exercising other powers, functions and duties
as conferred by our Memorandum and Articles of Association. The
composition of the Board during the year ended 31 December 2022
and up to the date of this report was as follows:
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Name of Director Position

Exns B

Zhao Ying Non-executive Director and Chairman
i HERITEFRFRIR

Li Xingying Executive Director

F E A WITES

Wang Wei Executive Director

T HITEF

Huang Peikun Executive Director

= I HITES

Cheung Ying Kwan Independent Non-executive Director
9 & 158 BYFATESF

Wong Wing Kuen, Albert Independent Non-executive Director
FoxiE BYFRTES

Choi Hon Keung, Simon Independent Non-executive Director
FE AR BYFATESF
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There is no relationship between the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer. The Directors do not have financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships with each other. The
biographical details of the Directors and other senior management
are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” on pages from 38 to 44 of this annual
report.

During the Year, the Board has at all times met the requirements of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs
with at least one of them possessing appropriate professional
qualifications and accounting and related financial management
expertise as required under the Listing Rules among the Directors.
The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from all of the independent non-executive Directors and the Board is
of the view that all the independent non-executive Directors are
independent in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for overseeing the management, businesses,
strategic directions, financial performance and monitoring business
and performance. The Board provides high-level guidance and
effective oversight of the Management and holds regular meetings to
discuss the Group’s businesses and operations. All Directors carry out
their duties in good faith and in compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, taking decisions objectively and acting in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those
involving conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the management team. The delegated
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed by the Board to
ensure that they accommodate the needs of the Group. Executive
Directors and senior executives meet regularly to review the
performance of the businesses of the Group as a whole. The Board
also gives clear directions as to their powers of management
including circumstances where management should report back, and
will review the delegation arrangements on a periodic basis to
ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.
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All Directors, including Independent Non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
delivery of the Board functions.

Board Diversity

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy with
measurable objectives. A diverse Board will include and make good
use of differences in the skills, industry knowledge and experience,
education, race, age, gender, background and other qualities of
directors. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven Directors,
three of which are female. The Nomination Committee considered
that the composition of the Board is sufficiently diverse and
appropriate for the management and business development of the
Company. As at 31 December 2022, the male to female ratio in the
workforce of the Group (including the senior management) was
approximately 54:23. The Company considered the gender ratio of
the workforce is appropriate and balanced taking into account the
nature of the industry.

The Board and the Nomination Committee will continue to monitor
the structure of the Board and workforce, as well as the
implementation of Board Diversity Policy, and assess whether any
plans or measurable objectives should be set. The Board recognizes
the importance of diversity and will ensure that any successor to the
Board complies with the Board Diversity Policy.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a general dividend policy that aims to
provide the shareholders of the Company out of the Group’s profit
attributable to shareholders in any financial year. In proposing any
dividend payout, the Board shall take into account, inter alia, the
following factors: (i) the actual and expected financial results of the
Group; (ii) economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Group; (iii) the Group’s business strategies,
including future cash commitments and investment needs to sustain
the long-term growth aspect of the business; (iv) the current and
future operations, liquidity position and capital requirements of the
Group; and any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance with
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquires of
the Directors, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with
the required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors adopted by the Company during
the period from the date of listing up to the date of this report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles and duties of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer are carried out by different individuals. The role of Chairman
is held by Ms. Zhao Ying, the role of Chief Executive Officer is
temporarily vacant and the equivalent duties is held by the deputy
Chief Executive Officer by Ms. Li Xingying. The Chairman provides
leadership for the Board and ensures its effectiveness in all aspects.
The Chief Executive Officer has the delegated power to monitor the
daily operation and management of the Company. The Board will
keep reviewing the current structure of the Board and the need of
appointment of a suitable candidate to perform the role of
Chairman.

Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with the Listing Rules, the Company has appointed
three INEDs representing more than one-third of the Board and at
least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The functions of INEDs are primarily to bring an independent
judgement on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standards of conducts at board
meetings.

Confirmation of Independence

Each of INEDs has made an annual confirmation of independence by
reference to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company
considers that all Independent Non-executive Directors were
independent during the Year.

Board Independence

To ensure independent views and input are available to the Board,
the Board has developed and maintained the following measures and
mechanisms, including but not limited to:

(i) at least one-third of Board members are independent non-
executive Directors;

(i) every independent non-executive Director is appointed for a
specific term and subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years;
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(i)  no independent non-executive Director has served the Company
for more than nine years;

(iv)  no independent non-executive Director holds more than six
listed company directorships to make sure that each of
independent non-executive Directors has sufficient time to
make contributions to the Board;

(v) every independent non-executive Director has made an annual
confirmation of his independence to the Company;

(vi)  the Nomination Committee will assess the independence of a
candidate for independent non-executive Director before
appointment;

(vii)  no equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements will be granted to independent non-executive
Directors; and

(viii) the Directors may seek professional advice in appropriate

circumstances at the Company’s expenses.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
relevant measures mechanisms during the year.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the EDs is engaged on a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years. The Company has also issued a
letter of appointment for a term of three years to the NED and each
of the INEDs.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are governed by the Articles of Association. The
Company has established a Nomination Committee which is
responsible for reviewing the Board composition, monitoring the
appointment and succession planning of the Directors and assessing
the independence of the INEDs.

The Articles of Association provides that any Director so appointed to
fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general
meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject to re-
election at such meeting. Any Director so appointed as an addition
to the existing Board shall hold office only until the first annual
general meeting (“AGM"”) of the Company after his appointment
and be eligible for re-election at such meeting. Any Director so
appointed by the Board shall not be taken into account in
determining the Directors or the number of Directors who are to
retire by rotation at an annual general meeting.
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In accordance with the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation. However, if the number of Directors is
not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less
than one third shall be the number of retiring Directors. The
Directors to retire in each year shall be those who have been in
office longest since their last re-election or appointment but, as
between persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on
the same day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree
among themselves) be determined by lot.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy. The Nomination
Committee invites nominations of candidates from members of the
Board and may also put forward other candidates. Before making
recommendations to the Board, the Nomination Committee reviews
and assesses the suitability of candidates for directorship, according
to certain assessment criteria, including but not limited to
experience, professional qualifications, educational background, skills,
knowledge, integrity, potential contributions to the Board, and by
making reference to the board diversity policy, the Company’s needs
and the current composition of the Board. For candidates of
independent non-executive Directors, the Board will also consider
their independence. The Nomination Committee should then
recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship.

Continuous Professional Development for
Directors

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4. of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to ensure
that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/
her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements. During the year ended 31
December 2022, all Directors, including Ms. Zhao Ying, Ms. Li
Xingying, Ms. Wang Wei, Mr. Huang Peikun, Mr. Cheung Ying
Kwan, Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert and Mr. Choi Hon Keung,
Simon had studied the reading materials relevant to corporate
governance and other regulatory requirements in order to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
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ExEgE2
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Board Meetings

The Board meets regularly for reviewing and approving the financial
and operating performance, and considering and approving the
overall strategies and policies of the Company. Additional meetings
are held when significant events or important issues are required to
be discussed and resolved.

TREJELEE ZEERBERRERAMBEF
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The following table indicates the number of Board, committee and
general meetings during the financial year and the number of
attendance by each of the Directors:

Number of meetings attended/held

HE BTEERE

Audit Remuneration  Nomination General

Name ] Board  Committee =~ Committee  Committee Meeting

EE® FHZAET FHEEE REEE® BRRAE
Non-executive Director and Chairman FUTESREIRE
Zhao Ying 7 4/4 — n ”n n
Executive Directors ITES
Li Xingying FHA 4/4 — — — n
Wang Wei % 4/4 — — — il
Huang Peikun HiE 4/4 — — — 1n
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHTES
Cheung Ying Kwan 3 JE 4e 4/4 3/3 1” 1” 1”
Wong Wing Kuen, Albert Tk 4/4 33 n — 1n
Choi Hon Keung, Simon BER 4/4 33 — 1”1 n
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Board Committees

The Board has established three Board committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All the Board committees should report to the Board on their
decisions or recommendations made. The terms of reference of the
three committees are posted on the Company's website and the
Stock Exchange’s website.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules
and Code Provision D.3.3 of the Corporate Governance Code as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee
consists of three members, namely the independent non-executive
Directors Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert, Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan and
Mr. Choi Hon Keung, Simon. The chairman of the Audit Committee
is Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to assist our Board by providing an independent view
of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal
control and risk management system of our Group, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditors, reviewing our financial information and disclosures,
to oversee the audit process, to develop and review our policies and
to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the
Board.

During 2022, the Audit Committee held three meetings to review
and discuss the relevant interim and annual financial statements,
results announcements and reports of the Group and review the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control
system.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.26 of the
Listing Rules and Code Provision E.1.2 of the Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The
Remuneration Committee consists of three members, namely, and
the independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Wong Wing Kuen,
Albert and Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan, and the executive Director, Ms.
Zhao Ying. The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Dr.
Wong Wing Kuen, Albert. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee include (but without limitation): (i) making
recommendations to the Directors regarding our policy and structure
for the remuneration of all our Directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing the remuneration policies; (ii) making recommendations
to our Board on the remuneration packages of our Directors and
senior management; (iii) reviewing and approving the management'’s
remuneration proposals with reference to our Board's corporate
goals and objectives; and (iv) reviewing and approving matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has adopted the model to delegate the remuneration
committee to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management.

During 2022, the Remuneration Committee met one time to review

the remuneration policies and remuneration packages of the
Directors.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision B.3.1
of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely the executive Director, Ms. Zhao Ying, and the independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan and Mr. Choi Hon
Keung, Simon. The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Ms.
Zhao Ying. The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to
make recommendations to our Board on appointment of members of
our Board. During 2022, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
concluded that the members of the Board have possessed the
expertise and independence to carry out the Board’s functions and
responsibilities.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
(amended and restated with effect from 16 December 2020), the
Nomination Committee shall review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and professional
experience, gender, age, cultural and educational background) of the
Board at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy. Based on such factors, the Nomination Committee shall also
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships.

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial
Statements

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards.

The Board is committed to providing a balanced, clear and
comprehensive assessment of interim and annual reports, price-
sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor on
the financial statements of the Group are set out in the section of
“Independent Auditor's Report” in this Annual Report.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies,
practices on corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s
policies and practices in compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct applicable to employees and the Directors, and reviewing
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report contained in the Company’s annual
reports.

Auditors’ Remuneration

The fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor, in respect of audit
services for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to
RMB1,050,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the fees paid/payable for
the services provided by the Company’'s auditor are set out as
follows:

Services rendered

RENRBE

EERB R
EECEEBAOLETABE M E LGS

ARREEERHERFR RIREREFR
SREREENEILBEEXRER RIRER
AABEETERREERESNENRRRER
HE I REREANBRERESENRT T
AEBEARRRREEEBTANERBREA
RAFHRMBCEERBSANKESR -

B BT B =

HEZ202F 128318 L FEEZRB DN E
ARD R % ERENE A A A R#1,050,0007T ©

REZ2022F12A318 1 FE AR A Z A
RENRBEN  ENBALIWOT

Fees paid/payable
B ENER

Statutory audit services

ETE B AZIRTE

Non-audit services

EEZ R
Interim review
R E R R

Circular works related to capital market transactions

HEARTIHR 5 0B K

RMB1,050,000
A R #1,050,0007C

RMB380,000
A R #380,0007C

RMB 170,000
AR #170,0007T

RMB550,000
AR #550,0007T

Remuneration of Senior Management

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management is set out by band as follows:

= R E BB H N
HE2022F12A31B It EE -
TR HER 27 0T

EREEEMRERN

Number of employees

EEBAH
2022 2021
20225 20214
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000/ 7T 4 4
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board recognises the overall responsibility for the establishment,
maintenance, and review of the risk management and internal
control system and an effective risk management and internal
control system enhances the Group’s ability in achieving business
objectives, safeguarding assets, complying with applicable laws and
regulations and contributes to the effectiveness and efficiency of its
operations. The senior management reviews and evaluates the
control process and monitors any risk factors on a regular basis and
reports to the Board and the Audit Committee on any findings and
measures to address the variances and identified risks.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Group’s risk management and internal control procedures
include a comprehensive budgeting, information reporting and
performance monitoring system. The Company has established an
internal audit function. The Audit Committee reviews the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function and the Group's
risk management and internal control system annually, covering all
key control, including financial, operational and compliance. The
result of review will be reported to the Board and some measures
would be proposed if there is any area for improvement. During the
Year, the Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems and considered them
effective and adequate.

The Group also attaches great importance to ESG risk management
and internal control mechanism. Based on the overall ESG
management concept, the Group regularly reviews the ESG workflow
and arrangements for business operation and internal audit every
year. An ESG working group has been established to be responsible
for execution and monitoring the ESG policy of cemetery, identifying
ESG-related risks and reflecting them to the Board to ensure that the
Group has set up an appropriate and effective ESG risk management
and internal control system.

Company Secretary

Ms. Li Ming Wai (“Ms. Li") was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company on 29 March 2021. Ms. Li had taken no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training for the year ended 31
December 2022. The biographical details of Ms. Li are set out under
the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management”.
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Shareholders’ Right

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the shareholders of the Company and the
Board. An AGM of the Company shall be held in each year and at
the place as may be determined by the Board.

Right to Convene EGM and putting forward proposals at
general meetings

Each general meeting, other than an AGM, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM"). EGM shall be convened on
the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

EGM shall be called by at least 14 days’ notice in writing. The
written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, be
signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposited to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong marked with the attention of the
company secretary, and such may consist of several documents in
like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists.

Enquires to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquires to the Board in writing to
the principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company.

Enquiry Contact:
By email:
By post:

admin@Ifwty.com

Unit 3707A, 37th Floor,

West Tower,

Shun Tak Centre,

168-200 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong

Attention: Public Relationship
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Investors Relations

The Company has adopted a shareholder communication policy.
According to the policy, the Company need to ensure effective and
timely communication of information to the shareholders and
potential investors and maintain various communication channels.
The Company has maintained a continuing dialogue with the
Company’s shareholders and investors through various channels,
including, among others, the Company’s annual, and interim reports,
notices, announcements and circulars and the Company’s website at
www.chinawty.com. The Company also holds press conferences from
time to time at which the Executive Directors and senior
management of the Group are available to answer questions
regarding the Group’s business and performance.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the shareholder communication policy. Considering that the multiple
communication channels with Shareholders and potential investors
maintained during the year, the Company considered that the policy
remained effective and has been properly implemented.

Constitutional Documents

No change has been made to the Company’s article of association
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Inside Information

The Company regulates the handling and propagation of inside
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Futures Commission
and as indicated in the corporate responsibility policy and various
affiliate proceedings to ensure inside information remains
confidential until the disclosure of such information is appropriately
approved, and the propagation of such information is efficiently and
consistently made. The Company regularly reminds the Directors and
employees about the due compliance with all policies regarding the
inside information with the latest regulatory updates.
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Board of Directors

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) consists of seven Directors,
comprising one non-executive Director, three executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors.

ZHAO Ying (H#58)
Non-executive Director and Chairman

Ms. ZHAO Ying (#5, “Ms. Zhao"), aged 52, joined the Group in
January 2017 and was further designated as a non-executive
Director in March 2017. Ms. Zhao has been serving as a director of
Wan Tong (HK) Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, since January 2017. Ms. Zhao has been serving as a
director of Langfang City Property Development Co., Ltd. (B3 1 3
2= i E R Z A R A 7)) since February 2008 and a non-executive
director of China VAST Industrial Urban Development Company
Limited (FEIZZEXEMEZERBR AR, stock code: 6166, was
delisted on 6 December 2022) from 18 February 2014 to 19 July
2021.

LI Xingying (2= 1 78)
Executive Director, and Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Ms. LI Xingying (Z=E#, “Ms. Li"), aged 44, was appointed as an
executive Director in March 2017. Ms. Li has 20 years of experience in
burial services industry. Ms. Li joined the Group in November 2007. She
has been serving as the legal representative and general manager of
Langfang Wantong Public Cemetery Co., Limited (BB & A AEFRE A
7). Ms. Li has been the sole executive director, legal representative and
general manager of Langfang Wantong since May 2015. She has been
serving as the legal representative of Langfang City Wantong Funeral
Services Co., Ltd. (B3 @ iREZERS AR A A]), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and Wantongyuan Investment since March
2017 and has been serving as an executive director of Langfang
Wantong since May 2015. She has been serving as the legal
representative and chairman of Langfang Linkong Wantong Cemetery
Co., Ltd. (BB R % &2 ZE AR A7) since 31 July 2020,

Before joining the Group, she served as a clerk and cashier of Wan
Tong Yuan from March 1999 to September 2000 and a salesperson
in Langfang City Property Development Co., Ltd. (ER&7 ¥ [ 5 th B
FE AR A 7)) from September 2000 to March 2003. From March
2003 to October 2005, Ms. Li served as the marketing manager of
Wan Tong Yuan, responsible for the overall management of the
customers’ services center and business administration thereof. Ms. Li
served as the general manager of Wan Tong Yuan from October
2005 to November 2007 and the executive general manager of
Langfang Wantong from November 2007 to May 2015.
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WANG Wei (£ #)
Executive Director

Ms. WANG Wei (£%%, “Ms. Wang"), aged 30, was appointed as an
executive Director in March 2021. Ms. Wang is an executive Director
of China VAST Industrial Urban Development Company Limited (4 B
REEEMEEEARMR AT, Stock code: 6166, was delisted on
6 December 2022) from 6 November 2017 to 6 November 2022.
Ms. Wang is the daughter of Ms. Zhao Ying, the chairman of the
Group, a non-executive director and a controlling Shareholder.
Ms. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in finance from Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics in June 2013, and has extensive
experience in corporate finance and mergers and acquisitions.

HUANG Peikun (& £ i)
Executive Director

Mr. HUANG Peikun (E%5#, “Mr. Huang”), aged 60, was appointed
as an executive Director and chief financial officer of the Company
in March 2021. Mr. Huang has 17 years of experience in business
management. He received his master's degree in Management
Science and Engineering (& ¥ ®} 2 B T #2") from Zhejiang
University (“3#T AE"), located in the PRC, in December 1999 and
his Executive Master of Business Administration degree from The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology ("& BRI AE"),
in June 2012. He was qualified as a senior accountant ("= A% & &t
B ") of the Department of Personnel Affairs of Guangdong Province
("FEHRAASEE") in February 2000. Mr. Huang was an executive
director of China Merchants Land Limited (00978. HK, the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange) from 2 June 2012 to
8 August 2013 and he was an executive director of China VAST
Industrial Urban Development Company Limited (4 B 72 25 & ¥ T $2
ERAM A A, 06166. HK, was delisted on 6 December 2022) from
17 March 2014 to 19 July 2021.
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CHEUNG Ying Kwan (3K Jf& 3)
Independent non-executive Director

Mr. CHEUNG Ying Kwan (5KF&3#, “Mr. Cheung”), aged 63, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director in September
2017. Mr. Cheung has more than 22 years of experience in finance
and accounting. Mr. Cheung has been the company secretary of
China Mental Resources Utilization Limited (1 B & & & R B AR
‘A 7], a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code
1636) since February 2014. Mr. Cheung served as the financial
controller of Gushan Environmental Energy Limited (2R {REERAE
R A &]) from March 2006 to August 2013, the qualified accountant
and company secretary of Goldigit Atom-tech Holdings Limited (&%
Bo TR AR AR) (currently known as Jinchuan Group
International Resources Co. Ltd. (&I BBEBEERER LA, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 2362) from
April 2001 to March 2006, an independent non-executive director of
Beijing Chunlizhengda Medical Instruments Co., Ltd. (3t T &L IE
EEEEWMALD AR AR, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
with stock code 1858) from March 2015 to March 2018, an
independent non-executive director of ZACD Group Ltd. (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 8313) from December
2017 to January 2019, an independent non-executive director of
Gold-Finance Holdings Limited (£ # =R AR A, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange with stock code 1462) from February 2016 to
May 2019, and an independent non-executive director of Tian Shan
Development (Holding) Limited (KL R (E/%)ER A F], a company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 2118) from June 2010
to October 2022.

Mr. Cheung has been a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since November 2000 and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since April 1995. Mr. Cheung obtained a diploma in
fabric manufacturing from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
September 1981.
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WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (£ 5k ##)
Independent non-executive Director

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (£ 7k #, “Dr. Wong"), aged 71, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of
audit committee and the chairman of remuneration committee in
September 2017. Dr. Wong has approximately 26 vyears of
experience in accounting. Dr. Wong has a broad range of experience
serving as an independent non-executive director of various listed
companies, including APAC Resources Limited (Z2 K EJRBRAF], a
company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 1104) since
July 2004, Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited (f% ¢ 88 RIERR AR A
7], a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 757)
since January 2008, China Merchants Land Limited (BB B & E R
‘A |], a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 978)
since June 2012, China Medial & HealthCare Group Limited (H B &
BRI AR AR], a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock
code 383) since December 2018, and Dexin China Holdings
Company Limited (215 B =K AR A7), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange with stock code 2019) since January 2019. Dr. Wong
served as an independent non-executive director of China VAST
Industrial Urban Development Company Limited (7 Bl 72 Z &£ T #2
R AR AR, 06166. HK, was delisted on 6 December 2022) from
August 2014 to December 2022, and Capital Finance Holdings
Limited (E# & BIERBR A, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange with stock code 8239) from 1 January 2018 to 1 January
2022. He served as a principal consultant of KND & Co. CPA Limited
(BESMEBATAMR A A]) from April 1994 to December 2017.
Dr. Wong has been appointed as a principal consultant of KND
Associates CPA Limited (& 5A & 5HBI7TH R A 7)) since January 2018.

Dr. Wong received a degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Business
Administration from the Bulacan State University, Republic of the
Philippines in December 2010. Dr. Wong is a member of the
following institutions, including: a fellow member of The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators; a fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries; a fellow member of
The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong; a member of the Hong Kong
Securities Institute; a fellow member of Association of International
Accountants; a fellow member of Society of Registered Financial
Planners; a member of The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators; an
associate member of The Chartered Institute of Bankers in Scotland;
and a full member of Macau Society of Certified Practicing
Accountants.
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Notwithstanding Dr. Wong’s engagement as an independent
non-executive director of another six companies listed on the Stock
Exchange, Dr. Wong confirmed that he would devote sufficient time
to act as the independent non-executive Director based on the
following:

Dr. Wong is neither a full time member of the above-named
companies nor involved in the day-to-day operations or
management of such companies. As such, he has no executive
and management responsibility therein;

Dr. Wong is primarily required to attend relevant board
meetings, committee meetings and shareholders’ meetings of
the above-named listed companies. He has maintained a high
attendance rate for board meetings, committee meetings and
shareholders’ meetings for such listed companies during the
respective latest financial periods since his appointment dates;

Dr. Wong's role as a principal consultant of KND Associates CPA
Limited is on a part-time basis and he does not involve in the
daily management of KND Associates CPA Limited;

with his background and experience, Dr. Wong is fully aware
of the responsibilities and expected time involvements for
independent non-executive director. He has not found
difficulties in devoting to and managing his time with
numerous companies and he is confident that with his
experience in being responsible for several roles, he will be
able to discharge his duties to the Company;

none of the above-named listed companies that he has
directorship with has questioned or complained about his time
devoted to such companies; and

Dr. Wong's role in the Group is non-executive in nature and he
will not be involved in the daily management of the Group's
business, thus his engagement as the independent
non-executive Director will not require his full-time
participation.

Based on the foregoing, the Directors do not have reasons to believe
that the various positions currently held by Dr. Wong will result in

Dr.

Wong not having sufficient time to act as the independent

non-executive Director or not properly discharging his fiduciary duties
as a director of the Company.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EENEAETEERE

CHOI Hon Keung, Simon (%2% 58)
Independent non-executive Director

Mr. CHOI Hon Keung, Simon (£5)%£3%, “Mr. Choi”), aged 62, was
appointed as an independent non-executive director in September
2017. Mr. Choi has more than 8 years of experience in corporate
governance. Mr. Choi served as an executive director of Imperium
Financial Group Limited (FE & @& B BR A7, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange with stock code 8029) from June 2021 to
June 2022; an independent non-executive director of Boyaa
Interactive International Limited (1§ & BEIFR B R A A, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 434) since October
2013. He served as an independent non-executive director of
Kenford Group Holdings Limited (28 & BT AR A 7], a company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 464) from August
2011 to September 2017. Mr. Choi obtained a bachelor’s degree in
laws from Peking University (At X A28) in 1991 and a master's
degree in laws from The University of London in 1992. Mr. Choi
received his Common Professional Examination Certificate in Laws
and Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from The University of Hong
Kong in June 1994 and September 1995, respectively. Mr. Choi was
admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong and the UK in November 1997
and June 1998, respectively.

Senior Management

Our senior management is
management of our business.

responsible for the day-to-day

LIU Fengxue (2B )

Mr. LIU Fengxue (ZIBLZ, “"Mr. Liu"), aged 41, joined the Group in
November 2007. Mr. Liu is currently the vice president of general
administration of the Company and a deputy general manager of
Langfang Wantong, being responsible for the daily operation and
general management of the Group. Mr. Liu has more than 17 years
of experience in logistical and corporate support. After joining the
Group, Mr. Liu served as the head of security in Langfang Wantong
from November 2007 to June 2016, and he was promoted as the
head of logistical support department and deputy general manager
of Langfang Wantong in July 2010 and June 2016, respectively. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Liu served as the head of security team of
Lanshuiwan Property Management (E57K&#¥)%) of Langfang City
Hengtai Services Co., Ltd. (BB¥H M ERX R B B R A 7)) from
November 2002 to November 2007.
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CHU Yunli (8 ZF))

Mr. CHU Yunli (#8Z %, “Mr. Chu”), aged 51, joined the Group in
November 2007. Mr. Chu is currently the financial controller of the
Company, being responsible for the overall management of financial
reporting and cost management of the Group. Mr. Chu has been the
financial controller at Langfang Wantong since he joined the Group.
Mr. Chu has 16 years of experience in corporate finance.

Mr. Chu attended correspondence courses (F#%) and received his
associate degree (K¥) in accounting from Beijing Institute of
Business (1t R B £ B%) (currently known as Beijing Technology and
Business University (3t 5 T & K ) in July 1997.

GAO Ping (= )

Ms. GAO Ping (=3, “Ms. Gao”), aged 41, joined the Group in
November 2007 and has more than 18 years of experience in
customer services and marketing. Ms. Gao is currently the vice
president of marketing of the Company and has been the marketing
manager of Langfang Wantong since its establishment, being
responsible for the overall management of the marketing department
of the Group. She has also been a supervisor of Wantongyuan
Investment since March 2017, being responsible for monitoring and
overseeing the company’s financial matters and supervising the
conduct of the board of directors and senior management. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Gao served as the sales executive of Wan
Tong Yuan from October 2005 to November 2007 and the
marketing manager of Langfang Economic and Technological
Development Area Yongsheng Real Estates Development Co., Ltd.
(B F#ERXAEMERZEEGRAQA) from November 2003 to
October 2005.

Ms. Gao attended correspondence courses (EK#) and obtained her
associate degree (KXZ) in Physical Education from Hebei Institute of
Physical Education (7 3t B2 & 2B3) in July 2003.

LI Ming Wai (ZF 2 £)

Ms. LI Ming Wai (2822, "Ms. Li"), aged 37, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company in March 2021, being
responsible for the overall administrative management of the Group
and advising the Board on corporate governance matters. Ms. Li
holds a Master of Science in Professional Accounting and Corporate
Governance from the City University of Hong Kong and is an
associate of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators). She has over 7
years of experience in listed company secretarial practice.
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The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Principal Activities and Analysis of
Operations

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group was
principally engaged in the sale of burial plots and columbarium
units, provision of other burial-related services and provision of
cemetery maintenance services.

Business Review and Performance

A fair review of the Group’s business, an indication of likely future
development in the Group's business, an analysis using financial key
indicators as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) can be found in the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” section, which forms part of this Directors’ Report of
this annual report.

Results

Results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 63 of this annual report.

Dividends

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil). The Company is not
aware of any arrangements under which a shareholder has waived or
agreed to waive any dividends.

Financial Summary

The summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group is set out on page 4 of this annual report.

Key Risks and Uncertainties Facing by the
Group

The followings are part of the key risks and uncertainties identified
by the Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition
to those shown below which are not known to the Group or which
may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the
future.

The Group operate one cemetery in Langfang and any significant
downturn of the regional economy or changes in local regulatory
regime or burial practices could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations. The
management regularly review and adapt our services to cater to the
customs and preferences of the local residents in order to retain
existing customers and to attract prospective customers.
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The death care industry in China, subject to the strict requirement of
relevant regulations imposed by the government, is a highly
regulated industry. There are strict restrictions on licenses and land
supply which pose risks and uncertainties on the Group’s business
expansion. The Group have adopted internal guidelines to ensure
that the sale of burial plots to living customers satisfy these
conditions as required by the relevant laws.

There are uncertainties associated with the expansion of our
business. The successful implementation of our expansion strategies
may be influenced by various factors such as our ability to identify
suitable business opportunities or expansion plans on our cemetery,
to obtain government and other third-party consents, permits and
licenses that are required to operate our business. The expansion of
our burial services is also dependent on customer satisfaction and
our marketing efforts. In order to maintain growth in our business,
it may be necessary for the Group to implement marketing initiatives
to create public awareness and acceptance of our services.

Key Relationships with Employees,
Customers and Suppliers

The Group recognises that employees are one of the significant
assets of the Group. The Group aims to continue establishing a
caring environment to employees and emphasise the personal
development of its employees. The Group maintains a good
relationship with our customers and suppliers. The Group aims to
continue providing quality products and services to our customers
and establishing co-operation strategy with our suppliers.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its shares
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group's
subsidiaries are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong
and China. The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Group's subsidiaries in China while the Group also has a corporate
and administrative office in Hong Kong. Our establishments and
operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and
regulations in the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin Islands, China
and Hong Kong. During the year under review, the Company was
not aware of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Group.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of
the Company’s Listed Securities

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have purchased, sold or
redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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Tax Relief and Exemption

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s listed
securities.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Investment Properties

The Group's Investment properties represented the land parcel of
Langfang City Funeral Parlour, which is leased to a third party from
January 2015 to December 2021. Details of the movements in
investment properties of the Group are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Share Capital

Movements in the share capital of the Company during the Year
under review and as of 31 December 2022 are set out in note 24 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Share Premium and Reserves

Movements in the share premium and reserves of the Group during
the year under review are set out on page 66 in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

The Company do not have any distributable reserves as at 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Charitable Donations

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not make
any charitable donations (2021: Nil).

Major Suppliers and Customers

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the single largest
customer accounted for 16.7% (2021: 11.1%) of the Group’s
revenue. Revenue from the Group’s five largest customers did not
accounted for 30% or more of the Group’s total revenue (2021: Nil).
Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 67.5% (2021: 80.3%) of the total purchases for the
Year and purchases from the single largest supplier accounted for
28.4% (2021: 56.3%) of the Group's total purchases.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, none of the Directors,
their close associates, nor any of the Shareholders of the Company
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the five
largest customers and suppliers of the Group.

Remuneration Policy and Retirement Benefits
of the Group

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 57 employees
(31 December 2021: 57 employees). The Group provides employees
with competitive remuneration and benefits, and the remuneration
policy will be reviewed on a regular basis based on the performance
and contribution of the employees and the industry remuneration
level. The remuneration of a Director is determined with reference to
his/her experience, qualification, duties, responsibilities and the
prevailing market conditions. In addition, the Group also provides
various training courses to enhance the employees’ skills and
capabilities in all aspects. Details of the Group’'s the retirement
benefit plans are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this report were:
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EE

HE2022F12A3BHLEFEREEARARERH
ARBIZEZREWMT :

Name of Director Position

EEpE B A

Zhao Ying Non-executive Director and Chairman
@ HNTEERER

Li Xingying Executive Director

F FLzH BITESF

Wang Wei Executive Director

T BITESF

Huang Peikun
= I

Cheung Ying Kwan
o JE 458

Wong Wing Kuen, Albert
T ok

Choi Hon Keung, Simon

g%

Executive Director

HITES

Independent Non-executive Director

BUWITES

Independent Non-executive Director

BUWITES

Independent Non-executive Director

BUWITES
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Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management
are set out on pages 38 to 44 of this annual report.

All Directors are appointed for a specific term of three years which
may be extended as each and the Company may agree, subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting
("AGM") in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company. Article 108 of the articles of association of the Company
provides that at each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term)
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years.

Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with any member of the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one vyear
without the payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements and Contracts

Save as disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which any Director or an entity
connected with him/her or Controlling Shareholder of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the financial year or at any time during the financial year
under review.

Directors’ Rights to Purchase Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year under
review, was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement that would enable the Directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the
Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18,
were granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities
of the Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any
such right.
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Directors’ and Chief executive’s Interests in
Shares

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of each
of the Directors and chief executive in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) which would have to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO)
or which were required to be recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, were as follows:

EERBSTBRAERRO 2ER

M2022F12A31B  EERERTTRAEBHER
RABREFMABE ZE (EERFHLBAEGH
(IBHRBEE]) BEXVI) Z2RH - HERG &
EREFFHREEAREESFRBEBRONEXVIHETR
S MHMEARARAI LB R 2 s AR (BIER
BEHFLAEROIBEBEXEEWEIERGIEE
EEEmIKE) HREES KHE KA 5352
BEADSHRARRFEEZ B EZ R AR
AR LM AR ESRI0OBMNE AR A LB 2
ERERABWT

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interests securities held shareholding
EEMR EEHE FFEES8E BRESNEI T
Ms. Zhao Ying (Note 2) Founder of a discretionary trust who can influence 700,000,000 (L) 70%
how the trustee exercises its discretion (Note 1) (Note 3)
A8 2 1 (M 5E2) SRETBIZA AIREZTEATER 700,000,000 (L) 70%
(KR Py (B 5E1) (P 5E3)

Notes: M &

(1) The letter “L” denotes long position of the Shares of the Company.

(2) Ms. Zhao Ying is the chairman and non-executive Director of the
Company. She is the settlor, sole member of The Hope Trust's
protective committee and a beneficiary of The Hope Trust, which is a
discretionary trust and TMF (Cayman) Ltd. is the trustee of The Hope
Trust. TMF (Cayman) Ltd. wholly owns the entire share capital of Lily
Charm Holding Limited. Lily Charm Holding Limited wholly owns the
entire issued share capital of Tai Shing International Investment
Company Limited. Therefore, Ms. Zhao Ying is deemed to be
interested in the 700,000,000 Shares directly held by Tai Shing
International Investment Company Limited.

(3) The percentage is calculated on the basis of 1,000,000,000 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2022.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO which would have to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which were required to be recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2022, so far as was known to the Directors, the
following persons/entities (not being Directors or chief executive of
the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, or who is, directly or indirectly,
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interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of ZRARAKMKREARE EXRENTMBRRATEEIO®
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general kA E#Eas o
meetings of the Company or any other members of the Group.
Approximate
Number of percentage of
securities held shareholding
Name of Shareholder Nature of interests (Note 1) (Note 5)
BRE
FiESHE BHREDIL
BREE LB ERME (B &ET) (Pt 3£5)
Tai Shing International Beneficial owner (Note 2) 700,000,000 (L) 70%
Investment Company
Limited
REBEBERERRRAA EREB A (M2) 700,000,000 (L) 70%
Lily Charm Holding Limited Interest in a controlled Corporation (Notes 2, 3) 700,000,000 (L) 70%
Lily Charm Holding Limited — SZ4%5k B a5 (M52 ~ 3) 700,000,000 (L) 70%
TMF (Cayman) Ltd. Trustee (Notes 2, 3, 4) 700,000,000 (L) 70%
TMF (Cayman) Ltd. ZFEA(HIEE2 -3+ 4) 700,000,000 (L) 70%
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5 o
Notes:

(1) The letter “L” denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.

(2) Tai Shing International Investment Company Limited directly holds
700,000,000 Shares.

(3) Lily Charm Holding Limited holds the entire of issued share capital of
Tai Shing International Investment Company Limited, thus Lily Charm
Holding Limited is deemed to be interested in the 700,000,000 Shares.

(4) TMF (Cayman) Ltd. is on the trusts of The Hope Trust, which is a
discretionary trust set up by Ms. Zhao Ying, the chairman and non-
executive Director of the Company. TMF (Cayman) Ltd. directly holds
the entire issued share capital of Lily Charm Holding Limited.
Therefore, TMF is deemed to be interested in 700,000,000 Shares.

(5) The percentage is calculated on the basis of 1,000,000,000 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors were
not aware of any other persons, except disclosed below under
“Other persons’ interests and short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company” other than the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debenture of the Company and its associated corporations which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section
336 of the SFO; or who is directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or
more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the
Company or any other members of the Group.
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Other Persons’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares
and Underlying Shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2022, so far as was known to the Directors, the
following persons/entities (not being Directors or chief executive or
substantial shareholders of the Company) had, or were deemed to
have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO:

H A N ERAR BN R AERE D < # a8
S829-)

2022128310 SREEMM A TALEE
(ARFAEEFXRRTRABREBZRRBFINR
B SBERN TR RERIEREEBREES
K BB GBI S XV ER 552 30 B 69 6 SR AN A B 3
BoESmZOAR  HAREBEF RHIRIGPIE3361F
ARBRARAFEZBLMz EEHAR

Number of Percentage of

Shares held shareholding

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interests (Note 1) (Note 3)

FERGHE BREBDL

BREREE BB 50 ERtE (M =E1) (P =E3)

Fairich Trading Limited Beneficial owner 87,650,000 (L) 8.8%

REBZHAERAA EnEAA 87,650,000 (L) 8.8%

Ms. Xing Junying Interest in a controlled corporation 87,650,000 (L) 8.8%

(Note 2)

MERZ LT EErEER (M2) 87,650,000 (L) 8.8%

Notes: B 5F

(1) The letter “L" denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.
() Fairich Trading Limited is directly wholly owned by Ms. Xing Junying.

(3) The percentage is calculated on the basis of 1,000,000,000 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation other than the
Directors, the chief executive and substantial shareholders of the
Company who had, or was deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debenture of the
Company and its associated corporations which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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Competing Interests

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the
Directors nor the Controlling Shareholder nor any of their respective
close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) that compete or may
compete with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of
interest which any such person has or may have with the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Deed of Non-Competition

The INEDs and the rest of the Board reviewed the confirmation
provided by each of the Controlling Shareholders and confirmed that
they have reviewed the compliance with the terms of the Deed of
Non-competition dated 7 September 2017 and 5 December 2019 by
the Controlling Shareholders and the enforcement of the
undertakings (the “Undertakings”) given by the Controlling
Shareholders under the Deed of Non-competition and are satisfied
that all of the Undertakings were complied with by the Controlling
Shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Connected Transactions and Related Party
Transactions

Details of related party transactions of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements. None of these related party transactions were
subject to the disclosure requirements of connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Period.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company or the laws of Cayman Islands, the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, and there is no
restriction against such rights which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors are entitled to
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain in or
about the execution of their duty in their respective offices, provided
that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any
fraud or dishonesty which may attach to such Director. The
Company has purchased and maintained Directors’ liability insurance
during the year under review, which provides appropriate coverage
for the Directors.

Share Scheme

As at the date of this report, the Company has not adopted any
share scheme.

Equity-Linked Agreement

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Environment Policy

The Company is committed to support environmental sustainability.
The Company encourages environmental protection and adheres to
the principle of recycling and reducing, including encouraging
double-sided printing and copying, setting up recycling bins,
promoting using recycled paper and reducing energy consumption by
switching off idle lightings and electrical appliance and cemetery
areas, through the natural water reservoir and spray irrigation
system. In the meantime, we strengthen the recycling of wastewater
to improve resources efficiency. The Company will review its
environmental practices from time to time and will consider
implementing further eco-friendly measures in the operation of the
Group's businesses. The Company will publish its environmental,
social and governance report on an annual basis in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Sufficient Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float of not
less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under the
Listing Rules.
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Events after the Reporting Period

There was no material events after 31 December 2022 up to the
date of this report.

Auditors

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment, at the forthcoming AGM.

By order of the Board

Huang Peikun
Executive Director

29 March 2023, Hong Kong
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BB RS

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Wan
Tong Yuan (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 63 to 144,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”) issued by the International Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International
Independence Standards) (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN HZFHEEWNEEER ERAITARE(E)
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (continued)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (RREHETMKIZERAE)
Key Audit Matters (continued) HREETEE®

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BREBNEHE EENBENTEERRETSH

Revenue recognition for sales of burial
plots
EHENBRARR

We identified the occurrence of revenue  Our procedures in relation to the occurrence of revenue from sales of burial
from sales of burial plots as a key audit plots included:

matter due to the significance of the TEREMBEEWAMETHRFEE
amount and volume of sales transactions
recognised during the year. o Testing key internal controls relevant to the sales of burial plots.

EEBRRMEEWANEERT R —IEMR o BHEAEMEEN ARG -

RBEFE LDHAFABRRANEER

S2SBEHERKN- . Selected burial plot sales transactions on a sample basis and:
. MEEDREMHEERSH R :

Details of revenue from sales of burial

plots are set out in note 5 to the — examined the signed sales and purchase agreements to
consolidated financial statements. understand the relevant terms in determining when customers
EMHERAFBEHRE VB WK E obtain control of burial plots.

5e — REERINEEhZ UTHBEBRETANEEPEFSEN

22 1] B fER K o

—  obtained evidence regarding customers obtaining control of burial
plots.
— DISEHERPEGEMIZENNERS-

—  reconciled the amounts of recorded transactions and related
receipts to the signed sales and purchase agreements of burial

plots.
— HEARXSNSHEEEEMEESEEHENEBYIURE
TTHER -
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2R

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA WAN TONG YUAN
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Lung Kwok Hung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOM
EFEEREMAZERE R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

Year ended 31 December

HZEZ12A31B L EE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’'000
B AR TR ARBFT
Revenue & 5 45,738 43,949
Cost of sales and services S8 & AR 75 Bk AR (11,613) (7,554)
Gross profit £ H 34,125 36,395
Other income H oAb Y A 6 9,458 9,725
Other gains and losses, net HAb Yz K B 1B F 88 7 3,682 (1,125)
Loss on fair value changes of financial BATEGABED
assets at fair value through profit or CHEEATEEZD
loss 18 17 (1,257) (734)
Gain on fair value change of investment R&YE R FEEEF
property I 25 14 20 50
Distribution and selling expenses D RHER X (7,798) (7.644)
Administrative expenses TR X (9,256) (7,984)
Other expenses Hib & (434) (3.747)
Finance costs B 75 PR AR (22) (28)
Profit before tax B B0 A1 5 A 8 28,518 24,908
Income tax expense FT 15 %1 5 2 10 (6,488) (6,768)
Profit and total comprehensive income RATHEBEANEGRER
for the year attributable to owners of A N 2 T U as 4REE
the Company 22,030 18,140
Earnings per share BRR&E A
Basic (RMB cents) ERAR%E D) 11 2.2 1.8
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
B OF B B AR R 3R

At 31 December 2022 720224 12A318

At 31 December

®12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
M5t ARE T AR F T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment WME - BERZE 13 3,672 4,267
Intangible assets mEEE 232 152
Right-of-use assets TREAE 15 1,032 48
Investment property wEME 14 6,270 6,250
Cemetery assets EREE 16 10,251 9,837
Financial assets at fair value BEAFEFAEBSN
through profit or loss CREE 17 6,909 8,166
Prepayments and other receivables T8 5K IE K H A FE Ut
IE 19 11,846 35,143
Deferred tax assets TR IR & B 23 481 824
40,693 64,687
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 18 20,005 23,834
Trade receivables B 5 WA 658 —
Prepayments and other receivables T8 7 51 IE K H A FE Ut
IR 19 29,650 841
Amounts due from related parties JE Uiz B Bt 75 RRIE = 105,349
Bank balances and cash WITHEHRER 20 211,284 84,428
261,597 214,452
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 & H Aty JE T FRIE 21 9,656 11,938
Lease liabilities HEBE 502 15
Contract liabilities EHBE 22 5,915 7,372
Income tax payable FERTATISH 2,170 1,125
18,243 20,450
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEEEFE 243,354 194,002
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BREERRBEES
LIABILITIES 284,047 258,689
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
BB BRI R

At 31 December 2022 722022412 A31H

At 31 December

M128318
2022 2021
20224 20214
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
M 5E ARET T AR T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBRE 530 —
Contract liabilities aHaE 22 70,727 67,261
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIEEE 23 2,598 3,266
73,855 70,527
NET ASSETS BEEFE 210,192 188,162
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRFHE
Share capital A& 7 24 66,192 66,192
Reserves ®HE 25 144,000 121,970
Equity attributable to owners of ARAREEAELESR
the Company 210,192 188,162
TOTAL EQUITY EEEE 210,192 188,162

The consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 144 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29
March 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Li Xingying Huang Peikun
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

R E63E £144E B4 181 15 M 3R 2 W 2023F3 A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SOHERBB R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IEF[E

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAREEAEN
Statutory
Share surplus Other Retained
capital reserve reserves earnings Total
EE
&N BB Hipf# & REEF ko)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR® TR AR®TF R AR®T R AR®BT R
(note 25) (note 25)
(Bt 3£25) (Bt F25)
At 1 January 2021 R2021%F1A1H 66,192 12,143 1,309 90,378 170,022
Profit and total comprehensive income 4 % A} 2 1 W %%
for the year @z — — — 18,140 18,140
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve BEETFAGREE — 2,387 — (2,387) —
At 31 December 2021 R2021%F12A318 66,192 14,530 1,309 106,131 188,162
Profit and total comprehensive income 4 A F & 2 B Wz
for the year Rk — — — 22,030 22,030
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve ERETRNREE — 1,898 — (1,898) —
At 31 December 2022 720225128318 66,192 16,428 1,309 126,263 210,192
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
EHRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

Year ended 31 December

BZENAMBLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR ARBEF T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETED
Profit before tax R B4 AT & F 28,518 24,908
Adjustments for: AT SEELFE
Interest income F B YA (8,568) (8,835)
Dividend income from financial assets at RKEEATFEFABED
fair value through profit or loss eMEEZREBKA (700) (700)
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair  HEZAFEFABEN
value through profit or loss TEEE RS = (65)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEREEBETE
equipment 967 980
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 701 575
Amortisation of cemetery assets BEEEE#HH 574 447
Amortisation of intangible assets mIEEESE 15 —
Gain on fair value change of investment HEMERNTFEZH W
property (20) (50)
Loss on fair value changes of financial BRAFEFABENESREE
assets at fair value through profit or loss NEEZHERE 1,257 734
Finance costs B 7 B AR 22 28
Other expenses Hib & 434 3,747
Foreign exchange (gains)/losses, net SNEE (W as) B IB R BB (3,596) 1,152
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE BER&EEWKZ
equipment — (19)
Operating cash flows before movements in ~ ZEE S EHAMNEER &
working capital meE 19,604 22,902
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL, (8 3,829 (5,229)
Increase in trade receivables B 5 FE YR IE 1 N (658) —
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and T8 5 /I8 K H h pE I SR IE
other receivables (s m) (732) 424
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other B 5 & H M FE A 5RIR
payables Rk 4>) /48 hn (2,282) 5,839
Increase in contract liabilities AR EaEL M 2,009 3,406
Cash generated from operations KEMBIRE 21,770 27,342
Income tax paid B FTEH (5,768) (8,616)
Net cash generated from operating activities & & /EZBMEIR & FHA 16,002 18,726
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" Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EHBERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IEF[E

Year ended 31 December

BZENAMBLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBEF T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Purchase of property, plant and BEME BWELEE
equipment (372) (2,005)
Purchase of landscape facilities included in  BEFAEREENSERG
cemetery assets (988) (1,380)
Purchase of intangible assets HBEEVEE (95) (152)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWE BWEREEHS
and equipment RIA = 26
Loans to related parties ERTHEER = (100,000)
Repayment from related parties FAE T IENR 100,000 —
Interest received 2 8 11,703 1,956
Dividend income received from financial KEEBEATFEFALERZ
assets at fair value through profit or loss TREEDBRERA 700 700
Placement of term deposits FATEBREFER (30,000) (11,200)
Withdrawal of term deposits REUE BFE R 11,200 53,800
Advance payments paid [SERE-E (3,000) (30,000)
Payment for purchase of other BEHMIEENR
investments — (16,000)
Proceeds from disposal of other & H b3k & TS RIE
investments — 16,065
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities 1R &EBAE, (TR E & F5HE 89,148 (88,190)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEB
Interest paid B AT FLE (22) (28)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEREMBEEE (668) (598)
Net cash used in financing activities RMEETEMAR S FE (690) (626)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and Be MBS EWE M Cad)
cash equivalents F R 104,460 (70,090)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUORERBREEFEED
of the year 73,228 143,830
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes fE =GB R & 3,596 (512)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the FRUNTIEEIEMNE 2 RR
year, represented by: SEEY -
Bank balances and cash WITHAB LR 211,284 84,428
Less: bank deposits with original maturity — J&l : RRHBE A=@A N L&
over three months RITHFEX (30,000) (11,200)
181,284 73,228
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B O B 7% ¥R 3% Bt 5

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 L F[E

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Wan Tong Yuan (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated and registered in the Cayman Islands on 25
January 2017 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The shares
of the Company are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the
registered office of the Company is 2nd Floor, the Grand
Pavilion Commercial Centre, 802 West Bay Road, P.O. Box
10338, Grand Cayman KY1-1003, Cayman Islands. The address
of its principal place of business is No.48, Louzhuang Road,
Langfang Development Area, Langfang, Hebei Province, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The principal activity
of the Company is investment holding. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the sale of burial plots and
columbarium units, provision of other burial-related services
and provision of cemetery maintenance services in the PRC.
The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as
the “Group”.

The Company’s parent company is Tai Shing International
Investment Company Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) and its ultimate holding
company is Lily Charm Holding Limited, a company
incorporated in the BVI. Both companies are controlled by Ms.
Zhao Ying (“Ms. Zhao”, the "Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB") which is also the functional currency of the
Company and its subsidiaries, and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand ('000) unless otherwise indicated.
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Cayman KY1-1003, Cayman Islands * M =
MBI ATEARLME ([HE]) AL
& BB T T RR 4 5 B [ A AT B 485R o N AlAY
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PREEEEMRERBHEE  REHMEZE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IEF[E

70

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs")

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning
on 1 January 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
Beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to IFRS
Standards 2018-2020

Amendments to IFRS
Standards

The application of the amendments to IFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B B RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("|FRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

IFRS 17 (including
the June 2020 and
December 2021
Amendments to
IFRS 17)

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture?

Insurance Contracts’

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?®
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants®
Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies'
and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8  Definition of Accounting Estimates’
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and

Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2024

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) anticipate that
the application of the new and amendments to IFRSs above
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& Pt IS AR Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB.
For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material if
such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment property and certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with IFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 Inventories or
value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B B RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

For financial instruments and investment property which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique
that unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair
value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

[ @]

FUHBRRNEREERE
RS
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>+

74

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with IFRS 9 financial Instruments. In contrast,
a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right
to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
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Contracts with multiple performance obligations
(including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations (sales of burial plots and provision of
cemetery maintenance services), the Group allocates the
transaction price to each performance obligation on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or
service underlying each performance obligation is
determined at contract inception. It represents the price
at which the Group would sell a promised good or
service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling
price is not directly observable, the Group estimates it
using appropriate techniques such that the transaction
price ultimately allocated to any performance obligation
reflects the amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the
promised goods or services to the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2022

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 EAREGETEE ()
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) BEEAHWE(B)

ABZHEHNEENEX (BRI
Z1E1K)

HRESEB-BROEEEHERLNK
RUEBERGERB) NAOME A&
BRZAHBINEEEERR5ER
PREEEBBROEME -

BHEHEREABOAERRIRE
MBI EEBRAMN LMBRETE
AEERTFERHEARERK
RBOER - WBLEB T EKSE
52 RN SR B3R P A RO Bl S B
T KMEXSERTENEE
RMAEERMAEEABLMERT R
PzAwEmEARBEMERzRES
EWEMREOEME -

BE B [ i AR W 28 < AT B ETTIEAY
B 89 5T R

E8%

BTBRAOEEN TR EEENRERZX
FHECHBBERGAELESEHEET
EEFNEmERBEEREREGHT
AHEREENSRTEmARBEERER
W BN ERERBRASENS
EE IR IESE T B BB



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B B RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. &
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS N
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 EREFTBEE

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a
customer that it would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as
an asset if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so
recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss on
a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the
assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing
all incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs
would otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or
loss within one year.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under IFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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Leases (continued) HE (B
The Group as a lessee KEEEERBAEA
Short-term leases MHMEE

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to a lease of an office premises that has a
lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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Right-of-use assets TREAE
The cost of right-of-use assets includes: TRAEEENKABTE:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease . Mt EHEAGBRN S
liability;
. any lease payments made at or before the . REEHRIB A 2B ATEL M

commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; and

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Except for those that are classified as investment
property and measured under fair value model, right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets that directly
related to cemetery in cemetery assets and transfer to
inventories upon commencement of development.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property, cemetery asset or
inventory as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In
calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 EAREGETEE ()
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Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review,
in which cases the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 EREFTBUR )

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefit
scheme are charged as an expense when employees
have rendered services entitling them to the
contributions.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 BEREEBE G
Employee benefits (continued) EERF (&)
Short-term employee benefits 2 H g 5 75 7

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when the employee rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another IFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries and annual leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax (as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income) because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment property that is measured using the fair value
model, the carrying amount of such property is
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 BEREEBE G
Taxation (continued) Fi1E (&)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the
initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences
arising from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts
of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, resulting from
remeasurement of lease liabilities and lease
modifications, that are not subject to initial recognition
exemption are recognised on the date of remeasurement
or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the
relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax
treatment used, or proposed to be use by individual
group entities in their income tax filings. If it is
probable, the current and deferred taxes are determined
consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the
most likely amount or the expected value.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of
the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties
also include leased properties which are being
recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the
Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment property
are included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss
in the period in which the item is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
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method are reviewed at the end of each reporting HERATEELEANR -
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being

accounted for on a prospective basis.

Cemetery assets EREE

Cemetery assets consist of leasehold land, cost of initial
land development, and cost of landscaping facilities for
the general public areas of the cemetery. Except for the
leasehold land and cost of initial land development with
no intention to develop up to the end of the reporting
period measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets, cost of
landscaping facilities for the general public areas is
measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of property, plant and equipment.

Upon commencement of development of the cemetery
with the intention of sale in the ordinary course of
business of the Group, the related carrying amounts of
cemetery assets are transferred to inventories.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& Pt IS AR Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets (continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or
a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF EHVBBRRNEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFHE@®
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 EAREGETEE ()

Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEESEEY

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash HEReRELTMS Ha kR

flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of: ZEMEIE -

(@)  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand (@ He HeHBEFEReRIHRE
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject TR RZEERSIMERE
to regulatory restrictions that result in such HESKTBERaR e EERNRT
balances no longer meeting the definition of cash; wer s &
and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term by HEeZFEY HeRERHER
(generally with original maturity of three months REBARB=AKERE) 7
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily %H%L}ﬁi%a*ﬂl%ﬁlgﬁfﬁﬁﬂfgﬁ
convertible to a known amount of cash and which BFgER IR RBMERE -
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in RESEYMHEREEHR &
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of - MmIEARKESEMB A -
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.

Inventories rE

Inventories include cemetery assets for sale, cemetery FEREAHLENEREE ¥R

assets under development for sale, and tombstones and FTEREEREMRERE-KRHEE

urns. Except for the leasehold land element which is THE A RIBEERAEEEN SR
measured at cost model in accordance with the ERAERGFE/N AIHREENEER
accounting policies of right-of-use assets, cemetery BE -FRPEREE EBRERX
assets for sale, cemetery assets under development for =R R R K] IR ﬁE’JFﬁ%W
sale, and tombstones and urns are stated at the lower of BR o Bk A (FE 3 INAE 15045 EIR-

cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the REBERFENG nﬁ'%f‘i/}ﬁkﬁﬁﬁﬁ H

weighted average method. Net realisable value BRINAREERMTRR - FTEHE

represents the estimated selling price for inventories less RABIEHEEEEEAENEEKRAK

all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to RAREEEITIHEMRAIFFIE SR o

make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include

incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and

non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to

make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B B RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. EUfMBBRNGREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS R ERE®

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 EREFTBUR )
Financial instruments SR ITH

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a settlement date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IEF[E

920

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates

to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets of the Group are subsequently
measured at FVTPL.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B B RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period, with any
fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset and is included in the "gain
(loss) on fair value changes of financial assets at
FVTPL” line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, amounts due from related
parties, other receivables and bank balances) which are
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. For all other instruments, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

(@

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effect.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& Pt IS AR Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

0)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

(ii)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(a)

(b)

(@

(d)

(e)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B B RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of other receivables and amounts due
from related parties where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IEF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. EUfMBBRNGREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS K5 BUER )

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 BEREEBE G
Financial instruments (continued) @I AE)
Financial assets (continued) 2 A E (&)
Derecognition of financial assets RITERTRMEE
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the AEEEREEWRRSRENEL
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset BEMERE M5 —HEEBEZSH
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and EENEEMBRBRNI Y AR KD
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of BERIIEReMEE -

the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at RIEBREREHEK A ENSREE
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s B ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁiﬁiﬁﬂﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁlﬁfﬁﬁ’]
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration ERENBERER

received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity eHEERED

Classification as debt or equity DEREBHNER

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either EELERTARBAEGAOTHNE
financial liabilities or as equity according to the BFARksmAaGHEEETANESR
substance of the contractual arrangements and the SERTHAEGESNER -

definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.

Equity instruments EEITA

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a T B RER Eﬁgﬁﬁﬁ’\ﬂf‘?ﬁﬁﬁ
residual interest in the assets of an entity after BERFBERNENEGO AR
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued %TTW%@IE\-?RE”QHXE'JWFE}%(
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds MR EEEITRAER

received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost REENATENERAE
Financial liabilities including trade and other payables are CHMAGREE S REMENRIBER
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the BUAEBEBRNE EREHKARGE -

effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities RIETHREMEE

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and AEEgWEERNETR5G  BHxK
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, JEMET - RIFHERERBE - RIL#
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the B E’]%mﬁﬁﬂiﬁ’]ﬁﬁ@fﬁﬁﬁiaﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised ﬁ{EZF'EJE’J%HEﬁ‘EA?Eﬁﬁ R e

and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B B RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the Directors are required to make

judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Investment property

Investment property was stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuer. The
fair value was determined based on a method of valuation
which involves certain assumptions and estimates of market
condition. In relying on the valuation report, the Directors
have exercised their judgment and are satisfied that the
assumptions used in the valuation are reflective of the current
market conditions. Changes to these assumptions would result
in change in the fair value of the Group’s investment property
and the corresponding adjustment to the amount of gain or
loss reported in profit or loss.

The carrying amount of investment property as at 31
December 2022 was RMB6,270,000 (2021: RMB6,250,000).
Further details are set out in note 14.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

The Group’s investments in unquoted equity instruments
amounting to RMB6,909,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB8,166,000) were measured at fair values determined based
on unobservable inputs using valuation techniques. Judgement
and estimation are required in establishing the relevant
valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes
in assumptions relating to these factors could affect the
reported fair values of these financial instruments. Further
details are set out in note 28c.
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" Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IEF[E

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS 5. WMBERELE DI

(i)  Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with iy BEPaEHW=mEDE
customers
Year ended 31 December 2022
HZ2022F 128318 L &EE
Sales of
burial plots,
columbarium
units,
provision of
tomb
relocation Provision of
and other cemetery
burial-related maintenance
services services Total
HEEH
B TR - 1Rt
EEWRE
FE A 2 iy RHEE
18 B8 PR 7% HEERE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AR®BTRT AR®BTR

Types of goods and service BmREREESE
Sales of burial plots HEEH 26,869 — 26,869
Sales of columbarium units k= A=W = = =
Provision of tomb relocation services 1218 E B R 75 7,629 — 7,629
Provision of other burial-related RHEEME A

services BR 7% 6,280 — 6,280
Provision of cemetery maintenance  1E 1 2 B # £ IR 7%

services = 4,960 4,960
Total #Et 40,778 4,960 45,738

Timing of revenue recognition e R W R

A point in time EE B 34,498 — 34,498
Over time & B 8 57 34 6,280 4,960 11,240
Total HeE 40,778 4,960 45,738
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B B RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

5.

(continued)

(i)

REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS 5. IWEREE DI
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with )y BPEAHW=m»EE
customers (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021
HE2021F1283181LFE
Sales of
burial plots,
columbarium
units and
provision Provision of
of other cemetery
burial-related maintenance
services services Total
SHEREM -
&K ER M 32 A
H b E REEE
8 88 AR 7% o AR 7% BEt
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T ARETTT ARBTT
Types of goods and service BmRkREES
Sales of burial plots HE M 30,356 — 30,356
Sales of columbarium units & B IR 4,874 — 4,874
Provision of other burial-related IREE M E A
services AR 7% 4,188 — 4,188
Provision of cemetery maintenance 2 & & # & IR 7%
services — 4,531 4,531
Total st 39,418 4,531 43,949
Timing of revenue recognition ERRENED
A point in time X R 35,230 — 35,230
Over time & B ] O 4,188 4,531 8,719
Total 4@t 39,418 4,531 43,949
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IEF[E

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS 5. WBEBRELE DI

(continued)
(i)  Performance obligations for contracts with (il BEFPEHRBARME

il

100

customers

Sales of burial plots with maintenance services (multiple
performance obligations)

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
burial plots, the relevant burial plots specified in the

5 B b 0 1R (A v
)

HEEFPHRHEEEMITLMNE LT EH
E’J*H%ﬁﬁ’g“ﬁ$‘ilﬂﬁ*jﬁﬁ*§ﬁﬁﬁ

R (ZHRENE

contracts have no alternative use to the Group. Taking S EFMABAENIGR  EERR
into consideration of the relevant contract terms, the &*EE@P&@%WJ EERALEEYL

legal environment and relevant legal precedent, the
Directors concluded that the Group does not have an
enforceable right to payment prior to transfer of the
burial plots to customers. Revenue from sales of burial
plots is therefore recognised at a point in time when
customer obtains control of the burial plot, being at the
point that the burial plot is transferred to customer and
the payment of the transaction price is due immediately
at the point the customer purchases the burial plots.

The cemetery maintenance service is considered to be a
distinct service. Transaction price is allocated between
sales of burial plots and the maintenance services on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Revenue relating
to the maintenance services is recognised over time. The

5 58 I HE R B B P o AR A A X
[5Re Btk - $HE e K aE R %}5
ESEmEHE R (EBEET
B ) ) HE SR ﬁﬁx%ﬁ*ﬂﬁ?ﬂﬁg
REFHEBEREMF VAR -

ERBERBEA BB AR
?&%F*ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬂ%iﬁ’]%ﬁ%ﬁ#%
ERMEGERE ZHE DA - Hig#E
AR 755 A8 B8 &9 U =5 BB B [ //|Lﬁﬁﬁ§?d ° 7
MEZERBORFHEBRNEREE

transaction price allocated to these services is recognised REBHERRBENAE  WRAKE
as a contract liability at the time of the initial sales 7 AR 75 BA fE AR B o

transaction and is released on a straight-line basis over

the period of service.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing MZERAR—FATHRNERE

all incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs
would otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or
loss within one year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B B RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

5.

REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS

(continued)

(i)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (continued)

Sales of columbarium units

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
columbarium units, the relevant columbarium units
specified in the contracts have no alternative use to the
Group. Taking into consideration of the relevant contract
terms, the legal environment and relevant legal
precedent, the Directors concluded that the Group does
not have an enforceable right to payment prior to
transfer of the columbarium units to customers. Revenue
from sales of columbarium units is therefore recognised
at a point in time when customer obtains control of the
columbarium unit, being at the point that the
columbarium units is transferred to customers and the
payment of the transaction price is due immediately at
the point the customer purchases the columbarium
units.

Provision of tomb relocation services

In 2022, the Group provided tomb relocation services in
relation to Ten Village Street Tomb Relocation Project in
the Langfang Linkong Economic Zone. According to the
agreement between Langfang Guangyang District
Housing and Urban-Rural Development Bureau and the
Group, the Group concluded that the Group does not
have an enforceable right to payment prior to the
proper relocation of all tombs as requested in the
agreement. Accordingly, revenue from provision of tomb
relocation services is recognised at a point in time when
all tombs have been properly relocated and accepted by
the customer.

Provision of other burial-related services

Other burial-related services represented revenues from
miscellaneous services such as the organisation and
conducting of burial rituals, the design and landscaping
of the burial sites and additional engraving fees.
Revenue relating to these burial-related services s
recognised over time as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group's performance as the Group performs.

& 7R
HRAEEBRRBEREFAITINA
M AEEBEEOMETOEBEX
BRI EERA®E - EZERBEBA NG
RERRBEBEREREN EF
RRAEEYERHBIANATFE
& 5 RS AT UCER 5 5% o Btk - B KRR
BV E RSN TP EIS B IR I
2B (BB X BB ¥R T & P ey B ) )
BR MXZERTRABTREFBE
B IR BRI LB A -

REEERERS

R20224F - AL B 5L I R = O &
TENEGEEZBEBRARKEZRE
ARTS - AR IRER YT T R S & (55 A0 48
ERBEAEEFTINmE A5E
BN B ] R BTN
RIRBEHEZRLZEMEMBEEN
EITHR Bt - IREEERERS
M ERAEEENCZEWMBLE
EPERMETER -

TR (i L fh £ 3 4H BA IR 7%

Hfth £ 3 48 BE ARk 7% 45 2R B 4 18 AR 7% 1
Yoas - AR ROETTR BB  Eit
R R BEERMCARBINEDER -
HREAEBEOR TP REER
YWHERASBEROKRENF G &
5 1 48 B8 AR 755 8 8 e Wi 25 B By TR
FERR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IEF[E

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS 5. WBEBRELE DI

(continued)

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining (iy PEERFPENFHREBEHNETH
performance obligation for contracts with X5 BIE
customers
The transaction price allocated to the remaining 72022128318 P EEF B D
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially EFERETHES» REITINRZE
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2022 and the expected BhERKEOTEHERDT

timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

Provision of
cemetery Provision of
Sales of maintenance other burial-
burial plots services related services Total
REHE REHEM
HEEH H#ERE EnHBERS @
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

Within one year/on demand R—ER,/REX = 5,355 560 5,915
More than one year BRE-FEIHEAME

but not more than two years = 5,492 185 5,677
More than two years HREmE = 65,050 = 65,050

= 75,897 745 76,642

The transaction price allocated to the remaining 20219128318 " EEFH B D
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially EECRBOIXBI KRBT R S5E
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2021 and the expected BhkERKSOTEHERMDT

timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

Provision of
cemetery Provision of
Sales of maintenance other burial-
burial plots services  related services Total
RUER REE M
EEEM HERYE  EMEBRSE @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Within one year/on demand R—FR/1REX 1,007 5,567 798 7,372

More than one year BB—FETBEME
but not more than two years — 4,972 505 5,477
More than two years AW E — 61,599 185 61,784
1,007 72,138 1,488 74,633
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B B RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS

(continued)
Operating segments

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by executive directors of the Company, being
the chief operating decision makers (the “CODM"), that are
used to make strategic decisions. Information reported to the
CODM is based on the products and services delivered or
provided by the Group.

The Group's operating and reportable segments are (i) sales of
burial plots, columbarium units and provision of tomb
relocation and other burial-related services; and (ii) provision of
cemetery maintenance services in the PRC.

5.

Yz R & DI )

@ KA A 3
& o EB

AEBERBARRATEET(AIETELZR
RE(TEZBEERRED)MEZRANIEL
BRARNBEEETLENH - ERTER
RERKRENBERERARB AR SHEMH
B E mm M RFS 1R -

AEENRER 2RO MPREFENHEEE
o B IR K SR E B RE e B b E AR R
AT Kaii) B2 6 22 B 4 AR 75 -

Segment revenue and results D E M R E A
Year ended 31 December 2022 Bt Z2022912H31H 1F F/F
Sales of burial
plots,
columbarium
units,
provision of
tomb
relocation and Provision of
other burial- cemetery
related maintenance
services services Total
SHEE M
B TR - 1Rt
EEWRE
N E fth B i RHE
6 B8 AR % #E 78 IR % st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR¥T T AR¥T R
Segment revenue 7 Ep = 40,778 4,960 45,738
Segment results DEELE 29,637 4,488 34,125
Other income Ha A 9,458
Other gains and losses, net H oAb Y e & B 1B F 2 3,682
Loss on fair value changes of BAFEFABENSH
financial assets at FVTPL EEATEZIHER (1,257)
Gain on fair value change of wWEMELNTEZGH WA
investment property 20
Distribution and selling expenses 4§ & 5 & B &% (7,798)
Administrative expenses TEHX (9,256)
Other expense Hib & (434)
Finance costs B 75 B AR (22)
Profit before tax B B A g A 28,518

2022 - EBWME R ARAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IEF[E

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS 5. WBEBRELE DI

(continued)

Operating segments (continued) 1 5 B ()
Segment revenue and results (continued) D E s R EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2021 B E20219F12A31H 1F F/Z
Sales of
burial plots,
columbarium
units and
provision of Provision of
other burial- cemetery
related maintenance
services services Total
SHEZE M -
BB RIRHEE
=S RHER
1 8 AR 15 4 IR 75 4AET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBFT ARETF T
Segment revenue pol g 39,418 4,531 43,949
Segment results DEEE 32,414 3,981 36,395
Other income Ha A 9,725
Other gains and losses, net HAh e K B 1B OF & (1,125)
Loss on fair value changes of BEAFEFABZHS
financial assets at FVTPL EEANFEEHERE (734)

Gain on fair value change of wWEMELNTEEH RS
investment property 50

Distribution and selling expenses %3 88 M §§ & B 2 (7,644)
Administrative expenses TERAX (7,984)
Other expense Hib A (3.747)
Finance costs B 7 B AR (28)
Profit before tax B A% A1 g ) 24,908

%%%%ﬁﬁﬁ@@*+ﬁ%5%ﬁﬁ‘£3ﬁﬁt$%@E’J
S BEMAR - D HMEERE D MELNTE

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.

Segment results represent the gross profit attributable to each T'J I AR Bl H U A - B A e K g5 IS
segment without allocation of other income, other gains and #;?/D\E{Z{E;Hr]&%a E’J%rﬁﬂﬁﬁ N EZEE
losses, loss on fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL, B REMELATEEZIUE  DHEEHEE
gain on fair value change of investment property, distribution M TTHRAE - B RN -

RATBELERRELMUFEERIBELE
BHENFEEE -AFERBEFELE

and selling expenses, administrative expenses, other expense
and finance costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM

104

for the purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment. There was no inter-segment revenue during the
current and prior years. No analysis of segment assets and
liabilities is presented as it is not regularly reviewed by the
CODM.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B B RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS 5. k&5

(continued)

Operating segments (continued) 1 o Bh ()

Geographical information 12 & R

All of the Group's revenue is generated from sale of burial ERNHERmIIERRBOME - NEEL
plots, columbarium units and provision of tomb relocation and FAEKRGEHREEREHEE  §REB R
other burial-related services, and provision of cemetery R E SB[ A fih 2 30 48 B AR 75 LA 12 12 4
maintenance services in the PRC based on where goods are EEREERY  MASEBRISD 0] #R 8
sold or services are rendered, and substantially all of the BERBEHUAFE - At - &2
Group's identifiable assets and liabilities are located in the BEK -

PRC. Therefore, no geographical information is presented.

Information about major customers FEEFPEHR
Revenue from provision of tomb relocation services in the HE2022F12A31BLFE - ke —RE—
amount of RMB7,629,000 (2021: revenue from sales of ERRHEEERBREMEEAKEZAARE
columbarium units in the amount of RMB4,874,000) from a 7,629,0007T (20214 : $HE BB Y = AR
single customer accounted for over 10% of the Group's ¥4 874,00070) * (R AEBUWZEAI10% A £ o
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022.
6. OTHER INCOME 6. Hftg A
Year ended 31 December
BZENAMMBLEE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T AREF T
Interest income on bank deposits R1T 7 FF B A 720 1,956
Dividend income from financial assets at FVTPL &R F{E ABz 2
TREENRSIKA 700 700
Rental income el A 190 190
Interest income on amounts due from related FE UL BB 5 SRIB R A B
parties (note 32) WA (B 3E32) 5,634 5,989
Imputed interest income on interest-free advance 4 B &K E M B
payment and deposit paid RemEERBUA 2,214 890
9,458 9,725
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7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 7. HREREBEZEE
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLFE
2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREETF T
Foreign exchange gains/(losses), net SNEE U 25, (B518) %58 3,596 (1,209)
Government grants IR AT % B 86 —
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  WEREE
equipment g = 19
Gain on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL HERATFET AR
WemEENKE = 65
3,682 (1,125)
8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. BRBAIEF
Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging: MREBLRIE MM AT &IA -
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLFE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREETF T
Auditors’ remuneration % ERD B & 1,050 1,050
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - BiE MR EIFE 967 980
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEAENE 701 575
Amortisation of intangible assets BILEE#E 15 —
Amortisation of cemetery assets BEEREEHEGIA
(included in cost of sales and services) $HE & ARG AKX AX) 574 447
Total depreciation and amortisation mEREHERE 2,257 2,002
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense R AN T ERAR 3,864 5,295
Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration BIKRA  BREES
(note 9): B & (Ff5E9) -
Salaries, wages and other benefits He TEREM
=l 7,477 6,159
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RKTR A AT S HE5K0 593 427
Total staff costs WETRRAK 8,070 6,586
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

9. DIRECTORS" AND EMPLOYEE'S

9. EEREEHM

EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) FE=H i
The emoluments paid or payable to the directors by the RAFE AEBENKENES
Group during the current year are as follows: FMaT

Year ended 31 December

i)

BZ12BA31BLLEE
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARET T
Directors’ emoluments E=ai|
— Fees — BH 258 249
— Salaries and other benefits — FekEMEF 314 334
— Discretionary performance-related — MIERIVMBEEAD
bonus* 122 189
— Retirement benefit scheme — RARAE R E R
contributions 38 42
Total emoluments e Ek 732 814
* Bonus is determined based on the duties and * WITEFAEBIL  SERERN
responsibilities of the executive directors as well as the TESRERAEBCEREBEETE -

operating results of the Group.
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEE’S 9. EEREEFM
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EZBHM(®)
Year ended 31 December 2022 Bt 220229F12H31H 1F F/&E
Discretionary Retirement
Salaries and  performance- benefit scheme
Fees  other benefits  related bonus contributions Total
HE2R MERE BARER
-4 Hir @Al HEREAL AR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBT R ARBT ARBT R ARBT R ARBT

Executive directors: HOES:

Ms. Li Xingying FRBALL = 215 122 34 37
Mr. Huang Peikun EEBEE = 99 = 4 103
Ms. Wang Wei I@ut = = = = =
Non-executive director: HTES:

Ms. Zhao il — — = = =

Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTES:

Mr. Choi Hon Keung, Simon BEwEE 86 = = — 86
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert EokERL 86 = = = 86
Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan RIEREE 86 — — — 86
Total st 258 314 122 38 732

108 CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& Pt IS AR Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

9. DIRECTORS" AND EMPLOYEE'S

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

9. EEREEFMH®

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EESFHM
Year ended 31 December 2021 BLZE20219F12A31H 1F F /&
Discretionary Retirement
Salaries and performance-  benefit scheme
Fees other benefits related bonus contributions Total
Fek BERR RIREF
ER HibigH HEEL BE:T @it
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFRT ARETT ARETFT AREFRT ARETT
Executive directors: HOES:
Ms. Li Xingying FRELLT - 204 133 31 368
Mr. Huang Guangming EER L E (20215
(resigned on 29 March 2021) 3A29B B L) — 97 56 9 162
Mr. Huang Peikun EI LA (20215
(appointed on 29 March 2021) 3A298 EZ ) — 33 — 2 35
Ms. Wang Wei IR L (R20215F
(appointed on 29 March 2021) 3R29BEZ ) - — — - —
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Ms. Zhao -k G - - — - -
Independent non-executive directors: BIFHTES:
Mr. Choi Hon Keung, Simon EERAE 83 — — — 83
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert FAEEL 83 - - - 83
Mr. Cheung Ying Kwan R E 5 83 - — — 83
Total Bt 249 334 189 42 814
Note: M st -

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Group. The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of

the Company.

EPRATEEFMOENERAEE RS
MR - LAUBSIEMITE EB S TV EN

BEERRBEENRY -
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEE’S 9.
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Employee’s emoluments

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2022 included one (2021: one)
director, details of whose emoluments are set out above.
The emoluments of the remaining four (2021: four)
highest paid employees who are not directors are as

EEREEFMH =

(b)

& & %7
HE2022F 12831 B ILFEAER R
AT AT BE—BE S (2021
F—&) HFMFSEHRN LEX &
THEIFEER T HEES (2021F
) EENE S T

follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BHLEE
2022 2021
202245 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® Tt ARETF T
Salaries and other allowances e M E M ER 1,610 761
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3B /K#& F 5+ 2 3% 93 76
1,703 837

The number of the highest paid employees who are not
directors of the Company whose emoluments fell within
the following band is as follows:

FEEBESHFHMEISNHFMNFUAT
#E:

Number of employees

EE®E
2022 2021
20225 20214
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7T 4 4

During the vyear, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors or the non-director highest paid
employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office (2021: nil).
In addition, none of the directors, the non-director
highest paid employees waived any emoluments during
the year (2021: nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10. FIB8HBE X

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLFE

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR TR ARBETF T

Current enterprise income tax BVER ZEPTIS HE 6,778 6,668
Under/(over) provision in prior year FFETR/GARE)

B 35 (108)

Deferred tax (note 23) ST A I8 (B 5E23) (325) 208

6,488 6,768

Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to profit

before tax as follows:

FEMSHAXEBRTANENERRMT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREETF T
Profit before tax B B AT & A 28,518 24,908
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% BRiE A B E25% T E R
(2021:25%) Fi18 (20214 : 25% ) 7,130 6,227
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax A0 5 2 B9 B 7%
purpose wE 282 434
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose 78 &% & Ug A &9 i 75
2 (1,081) (182)
Under/(over) provision in respect of prior years mMBEFETR,/
GBE)&E 35 (108)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognized RIERRB B BB
2 519 397
Utilisation of tax losses previously not B A LRI REROTE
recognised K518 (397) —
Income tax expense Fris Rl & 6,488 6,768

2022 - EBWME R ARAR

11



L Y

e B

" Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IEF[E

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Note:

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the tax rate applicable
to the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

10. FIERBAXZ@®

G

RipPBECEABRETEEMBRED RDEX
ETEERED - PEMEARERNR XA
25% °

M2018F3A218 » B EZ G BBQOITFRK
(B (FE7FR)BOIERNTER]) » 5| AFBHN
WME o X ERN2018F3A28AFENK AEE I
REBAAE - REFESHEMEH 2ERKREEE
BEE2AEBE LR M EIE8.25%H T - 2B BB T
LA £ 2B F i 1R16.5% B - TRHEERBERG
RGN EETEN R GEEILRE R
R16.5% 8 -

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE 1. 8RER
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share ARBIEBAEBESRERREFERN TR
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the B TEIEE -
following data:
Year ended 31 December
BZENAMBLEE
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR T ARBFT
Earnings: Br
Earnings for the purpose of calculating basic AU EBRERE
earnings per share (profit for the year ey & F| (AR 7%
attributable to owners of the Company) BAEEF AR 22,030 18,140
Numbers of shares: B8R :
Numbers of ordinary shares for the purpose of FMNFTESRELR
calculating basic earnings per share e EBRE R 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000
No diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 HE20229F F2021F 128318 LFE - #H &
December 2022 and 2021 were presented as there were no BECETERAR  WAZMEELRZT
potential ordinary shares in issue for both years. BREERF -
12. DIVIDEND 12. RE
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of BIE2022F12A31H LLFE - KRR AR
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2022, nor @z@ﬁiiﬁﬁﬁifﬁ%@%% FREER
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting WEMARMRRHERE RS (20215 - ) ©
period (2021: nil).
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. WE - -BERRKHE

Furniture,
Leasehold Motor fixtures and
Buildings improvements vehicles  equipment Total
HE &~
BgF MELE RE OEBERRE At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR¥BTRT AR¥®TRT AR¥TR AR¥T:R
Cost PR AR
At 1 January 2021 #2021F1A1H 6,809 318 1,469 3,030 11,626
Additions NE 636 — 6 1,363 2,005
Disposals H e — — (228) — (228)
At 31 December 2021 #2021912H318 7,445 318 1,247 4,393 13,403
Additions A= 56 72 — 244 372
At 31 December 2022 M2022F12A31H 7,501 390 1,247 4,637 13,775
Depreciation e
At 1 January 2021 ®2021F1A18 (5,828) 76) (1,043) (1,430) (8,377)
Provided for the year FREE (275) (15) 177) (513) (980)
Eliminated on disposals M B B 8E — — 221 — 221
At 31 December 2021 72021412A318 (6,103) 91) (999) (1,943) (9,136)
Provided for the year FNEE (153) (23) (103) (688) (967)
At 31 December 2022 72022912H318 (6,256) (114) (1,102) (2,631) (10,103)
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 December 2022 72022912H318 1,245 276 145 2,006 3,672
At 31 December 2021 #2021412H318 1,342 227 248 2,450 4,267

The above items of property,

plant and equipment are

depreciated on a straight-line basis, taking into account their

residual values, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 4.80%-4.85%
BF

Leasehold improvements 20.00%
HEMERE

Motor vehicles 24.25%

e

Furniture, fixtures and equipment

R KERRE

19.40%-32.33%

ERWE - B R AR A B R B
BRI T R E

2022 F 4}
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14.

114

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

The Group leased out a parcel of land under operating lease.
The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangement, as the lease payment was
denominated in RMB, being the functional currency of the
group entity. The lease contract did not contain residual value
guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase the asset at the
end of lease term. The current lease contract of the land was
expired on 31 December 2022. Up to the date of approval of
the consolidated financial statements, the Group is still in the
process of soliciting a new tenant.

14. BEYHE

REBUZEERESXNDLA B LM - AR
HENZTUEBEEBNNEEBARKEES
B WAKETERABEELZ Y mEZINER
B AEANTEIERGEARRER, &
HMARMERARNSBELENRIZMR - %1\
TH ERAMEESHNER2022F12A318E
e BHEAHYBHmEEARER  KNEED
EREHBEP -

RMB’000
AR T

Fair value ATE
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1A1H 6,200
Gain on fair value change of investment property WEMERNTFEZH N 50
At 31 December 2021 RK20214F12A31H 6,250
Gain on fair value change of investment property WEMERNTEZGH N 20
At 31 December 2022 20229 12H31H 6,270

The fair value of the Group’s investment property as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 have been arrived at based on
valuation performed by HG Appraisal & Consulting Limited (a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors) and Vigers
Appraisal & Consulting Limited (a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors), respectively, both of them are
independent qualified professional valuers not connected with
the Group. The Directors work closely with the qualified
professional valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model.

The fair value of investment property is derived using the
direct comparison method. Direct comparison method is by
reference to market comparable with adjustments to reflect the
additions and locations of the subject property.

In measuring the fair value of the property, the highest and
best use of the property is their current use. The fair value of
investment property has been adjusted to exclude prepaid or
accrued operating lease income to avoid double counting.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued) 14.

The following table gives information about how the fair value
of the investment property is determined (in particular, the
valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised based on the degree to which the inputs to the
fair value measurements is observable.

At 31 December 2022

Investment property

Valuation technique(s)

BEWE @

TREJEHEBEZS

2022912 A31H

Significant

BREMERTFENT
EMEM (FRRMEANGETERBA
BB RBEATFEFENE ARBOTE
ERESATFEAENENRFEER-

Relationship of
unobservable inputs

held by the Group Fair value hierarchy and key input(s) unobservable input(s)  to fair value
HEFER EART TOBERAEE

EEERERENE ATEER TEBAYE EY PN ¢ HATENER
Investment property Level 3 Direct comparison method  Site unit rate, using An increase in the site
(Carrying amount: The key input is: direct market unit rate used would
RMB6,270,000) Site unit rate comparable and taking result in a same

into account of age, percentage increase in

location and individual the fair value

factors such as size and ~ measurement of the

quantum of properties, investment property

of RMB611/sg.m. and vice versa.
RENZE E=R BEELBE BB E RKAE  AMERSMEBELNE
(FRmEE: FEBHAHRR BEMETLRES TG FASERRENE
AR #6,270,0007T) 15 B i b K Rige s E R E M AFEHELAIER

At 31 December 2021

Investment property

Valuation technique(s)

AEZ flmmERE
LEE BARE6
T/ TRk e

2021F12H318

Significant

P RZ IR -

Relationship of
unobservable inputs

held by the Group Fair value hierarchy and key input(s) unobservable input(s) to fair value
EETER EART TUBERNABEBER

AEERERENE ATEER TEHAYE Y PN ¢ ATENEE
Investment property Level 3 Direct comparison method  Site unit rate, using An increase in the site
(Carrying amount: The key input is: direct market unit rate used would
RMB6,250,000) Site unit rate comparable and taking result in a same

into account of age, percentage increase in

location and individual the fair value

factors such as size and ~ measurement of the

quantum of properties, investment property

of RMB610/sg.m. and vice versa.
REME E=R BERLBE BB E KAE  MERSHMEMLLE
(REE: TEBAEER: BEmBALBES T FAESHRENE
AR #6,250,0007T) 5 B b RER wHREME ATENELAER

There were no transfers into and out of Level 3 in both years.

FIRZ - flmmERE
LEE BARE610
T/ ERKe

WOl Rz TREA -

MEFEGEEARBHE=RZ2BR-
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)
Fair value measurements and valuation processes

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment
property, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent
it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the
Group engaged third party qualified valuer to perform the
valuation of the Group’s investment property. The Group will
first consider and adopt Level 2 inputs where inputs can be
derived from observable prices in the active market. When
Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group will adopt
valuation techniques that include Level 3 inputs.

14. REWH#E »)

NEEFERGEBR

A EBREMENATES  FEEE
EREEHTISTBEEE M EE— R
MEARE AEESERE=HAERKE
B AR EBNRENLEHEE - AEREH
SERRFAE_REABE  DEBEA
BT RIS T EREARES -
WE—BHE AR SEBI KA
= N B A f R o

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. ERAREE
Leased property
HEYHE
RMB’000
ARBT
At 1 January 2021 202151 A1H 623
Depreciation provided for the year FAFHRITE (575)
At 31 December 2021 202112 A31H 48
Additions NE 1,685
Depreciation provided for the year FRFHRITE (701)
At 31 December 2022 7202212 A31H 1,032

The Group leased an office in Hong Kong and the lease term
will expire on 31 December 2024.

116 CHINA WAN TONG YUAN (HOLDINGS) LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2022

AEEREAEAE—BBRAQAE AHBER
2024F 12831 H &R °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B B RRW T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

16. CEMETERY ASSETS 16. EREE
Leasehold Landscape  Development
land facilities costs Total
HE L SHRE R A et
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR®T AR®T ARBTR AR¥TR
Cost B AR
At 1 January 2021 M2021F1 /818 7,204 4,973 699 12,876
Additions NE — 1,380 — 1,380
At 31 December 2021 72021912 A318 7,204 6,353 699 14,256
Additions wE — 988 — 988
At 31 December 2022 72022912 A318 7,204 7,341 699 15,244
Amortisation B
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1A81H (3,048) (627) (297) (3,972)
Provided for the year FRRE (141) (289) (17) (447)
At 31 December 2021 2021412 831H (3,189) (916) (314) (4,419)
Provided for the year FRRE (141) (416) (17) (574)
At 31 December 2022 2022512 A31H (3.330) (1,332) (331) (4,993)
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2022 202212 831H 3,874 6,009 368 10,251
At 31 December 2021 202112 A31H 4,015 5,437 385 9,837
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16.

17.

118

CEMETERY ASSETS (continued)

The carrying amount of leasehold land is measured under IFRS
16 at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment
losses. The leasehold land is amortised on a straight-line basis
over the lease term of 50 years.

Landscape facilities represent the construction cost of arbors
and bridges in the mausoleum. Amortisation for landscape
facilities is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful life of 20 years.

Development costs represent the costs paid for the foundation
work and putting the land into the condition ready for
development of cemetery business. Amortisation for
development costs is provided on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life (same as leasehold land over the lease
term).

Upon commencement of development of an area within the
cemetery, the related carrying amounts of cemetery assets are
transferred to inventories.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

16.

17.

EBREE®W

HELHOREERERRMBRSELE
1657 LA B A R 5+ 8 85 I (F (o] Rk (B &5 18 5
E-HETHMAEHRERSOFHY A -

REREEEETRT RIEROZRKA -
RBURME A B AR fhET A6 A F 209 5
PEBESH -

BRANERBETERAELMTAER
B EEE ORI RA o 8RB LA
BERENGFTEAFESN(RAAANEE
THAR) AR EE -

EEARSEMAGERRE  EEREENAR
FEEEREEE -

BAVEFABENSRMEE

At 31 December

M12H831H
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREF T
Unlisted investment: FELTHRE
— equity securities — B EE S 6,909 8,166

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had 10% equity
interests in Huimin Town Bank Co., Ltd of Anci District,
Langfang City (B m & X @ BERNERTRG B R A F),
which was classified as financial assets at FVTPL.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the amount of loss
on fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL of
RMB1,257,000 (2021: RMB734,000) was charged to profit or
loss.

Details of the valuation of the financial assets at FVTPL are set
out in note 28c.
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18. INVENTORIES 18. &
At 31 December
M12A318

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AR T
Burial plots 2l 885 1,595
Tombstones = 3,720 6,857
Columbarium units B IR ER 15,382 15,382
Others H A 18 —
20,005 23,834

19.

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

At 31 December

19. BAREREMEKRRIE

®W12H31H
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥®F T AR T
Current B
Staff advance 8 T # 30 30
Prepayments SN 1,224 398
Others (note (b)) H Aty (FF 5% (b)) 28,396 413
29,650 841
Non-current E15 )
Guarantee deposit and payments REFESLEEIERA MK
for a cemetery project (note (a)) (ff 5 () 8,846 8,437
Other receivables (notes (b)&(c)) H b UM FIE (M 7 (b)&(c) ) 3,000 26,706
11,846 35,143
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19. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

120

Notes:

(a)

(@}

The amount represents the interest-free guarantee deposit paid
to a minority shareholder, Langfang Xinhangcheng Real Estate
Development Co., Limited (BB¥ M ¥ Mk B ERZEER A A,
“Xinhangcheng”) for development of a new cemetery project
located in Langfang relocation and settlement zone, Beijing, and
should there be no breach on the part of Langfang Wantong
Cemetery Co., Ltd. (“Langfang Wantong”, a subsidiary of the
Company) before the official commencement of operation of the
cemetery, Xinhangcheng shall within 90 days therefrom refund
the guarantee deposit to Langfang Wantong. The difference
between the nominal amount and the fair value of the
guarantee deposit at initial recognition was regarded as
payments for a cemetery project.

The balance mainly represents an interest-free advance payment
of RMB30,000,000 to Baijiawu Office (AR EE, a local
government department) for the land demolition relating to the
development of a new cemetery project located in Langfang
relocation and settlement zone, Beijing. Pursuant to the
agreement entered into between Langfang Wantong and
Langfang Xinhangcheng and the arrangement among the
Guangyang district government, Baijiawu Office and Langfang
Linkong Wantong Cemetery Co., Ltd. (BB lREEMAEAR
‘A A], “Linkong Wantong”, a subsidiary of the Company), the
Guangyang district government will coordinate the relevant
parties to return the advance payment to the Group and the
Directors expected that the advance payment will be recovered
within 2 years (at the end of 31 December 2023). The
difference between the nominal amount and the fair value of
the advance payment was recognized as other expenses.

The amount as at 31 December 2022 represents an interest-
bearing advance payment to Langfang Funeral Parlour (Ef3
P& {#f8, a business unit under Langfang Civil Affairs Bureau).
Pursuant to the agreement entered into between Langfang
Wantong and Langfang Funeral Parlour in 2022, Langfang
Wantong was entrusted to provide certain extended funeral
services in Langfang Funeral Parlour. In accordance with the
agreement, Langfang Wantong advanced an amount of
RMB3,000,000 to Langfang Funeral Parlour, which bears interest
based on prevailing bank loan interest rate for the
corresponding period. The principal and interest are repayable
within 2 years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

20. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 20. RITHBREAS
Bank balances carried interest at market interest rates ranging 2022 12A318 - IRITHEBRBFERN T
from 0.25% to 1.76% per annum as at 31 December 2022 0.25% & 1.76% KT 5 FIEE B (20214 -
(2021: 0.30% to 1.95% per annum). FNTF030%E1.95%) °
The Group’s bank balances and cash are denominated in the REBRTEB LB SU T EBEE
following currencies:
At 31 December
M12831H8
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® TR AREF T
Denominated in RMB AARMEEE 169,855 81,671
Denominated in HK$ A TTEHE 41,429 2,757
211,284 84,428
21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 2. EFRHEHMENRE

At 31 December

R12H31H
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR AR¥ETT
Trade payables 2 5 EMNRIE 5,785 8,819
Accrued expenses FEET R X 3,871 3,119
9,656 11,938
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21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2. ESREMENFIE®

NTRAREHREZEZAHNZINE RN
IRH) BR R AT

At 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARBFT
Less than 1 year NS 1,078 7,739
1 to 2 years 1224 4,570 27
2 to 3 years 2E3F 27 965
Over 3 years 3FME 110 88
5,785 8,819

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities represent the obligations to transfer burial
plots, cemetery maintenance services and other burial-related

22. EHEE

BHRBEERBRERARRELEFEES
AR E M - EE M AR N H A 2R AR R AR

services in accordance with the revenue recognition policy and B &7 o
the nature of the business.
At 31 December
M12H31H
2022 2021
202245 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREF T
Sales of burial plots HEEM — 1,007
Provision of cemetery maintenance services 12 it & B 4 # IR 7% (M 5%)
(note) 75,897 72,138
Provision of other burial-related services 12 H fh B b AR B8 AR 75 745 1,488
76,642 74,633
Current B 5,915 7,372
Non-current FERE 70,727 67,261
76,642 74,633
Note: The increase in contract liabilities in the current year was mainly MWeE: AEEEHNEEENDEZARYETRK

due to the long-term advances received from customers.
Customers who purchase burial services are required to make
advance payments for maintenance fees, relating to the on-
going cemetery maintenance services of their burial plots and
memorials over 20 years, and such amounts are generally paid
together with the purchase of burial plots.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 22. EHNEEW
The following table presented the amounts of revenue TREVINNERBANKEEE  ZFNRHE
recognised in profit or loss which were included in contract EFFARIBEENEHNEE-

liabilities carried forward from prior periods.

Year ended 31 December 2022 B FE2022F 128318 1F F&E
Provision of Provision of
cemetery other burial-
Sales of maintenance related
burial plots services services
RHE 1= it H i
HEEH HERYE EHHEBRE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT R ARBT T AR®TR

Revenue recognised that was REFPFFAEHNAEERE
included in the contract liability &= g2 U %
balance at the beginning of

the year 1,007 4,828 798
Year ended 31 December 2021 B FE2021412 8318 1F /&

Provision of Provision of

cemetery other burial-

Sales of maintenance related

burial plots services services

EHE R E A

HEEM wERY BEWHEBERS

RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARET T AR¥ET T ARKET T

Revenue recognised that was REPDFAANAE
included in the contract liability — # e/ 2 FER U 2%
balance at the beginning of

the year 1,213 4,331 657
The Group receives all the contract amounts when signing the AN B A o 8 6 B [o 3 4 2 B 4 R R 7 B
contracts with customers on sales of burial plots and provision BEFEZEAHNRENEHANEE -RHE
of cemetery maintenance services. Transaction price is BB BEINEEEENHE Lt EE
allocated between sales of burial plots and the maintenance REEPE  PEREZEFRBHOZZHER
services on a relative standalone selling price basis. The RERBEERXRIRERRENEE - AEH
transaction price allocated to these services is recognised as a RE ZERINELNRGEROEEZEFHIIE
contract liability at the time of the initial sales transaction. The MASEREES  BERNRIETBEERR
Group considers the advance payment does not contain ANy BAAREsEIEREERHEGBE
significant financing component and accordingly the amount of 1t R B o

consideration is not adjusted for the effects of the time value
of money taking into consideration that the payment terms
were not structured primarily for the provision of finance to
the Group.
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23. DEFERRED TAX 23, EEBIE
The deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised by the Group and AEERAFENBEFERRANELRE
movements thereon during the current and prior years are as EEBEBE RAEZDHOT :
follows:
Withholding
tax on
dividend Fair value
declared by a Fair value change on
PRC subsidiary change on financial
but not yet investment assets at Accrued
paid property FVTPL interest Others Total
R D A RRAVETA
EIRE i K BROER
TRERE REMHE BEQATHE
AN WATELSD 25 EFRE Hity st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBF T AR®TF T ARWT T ARBF T AR®TF T ARWT T

At 1 January 2021 #202151A18 (2,200) (309) 275 — — (2,234)
(Charge) credit to profit or 182 (1) & A

loss (note 10) (KizE10) — (13) 184 (1,094) 715 (208)
At 31 December 2021 20214128318 (2,200) (322) 459 (1,094) 715 (2,442)
(Charge) credit to profit or 718z (F1%) &t A

loss (note 10) (Bi45E10) — (5) 314 461 (445) 325
At 31 December 2022 K2022412 8318 (2,200) (327) 773 (633) 270 2,117)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

23. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

23. BB E 5

NTRERBREBNNEERBHERD
#r

At 31 December

M12A31H

2022 2021

20225 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AREFIT

Deferred tax assets FEEFIAE E 481 824
Deferred tax liabilities FEREFIAE FE (2,598) (3,266)
Total Bt (2,117) (2,442)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had unused tax losses of
RMB2,272,000 (2021: RMB2,279,000) available for offset
against future profits with expiry dates as disclosed in the
following table. As at 31 December 2022, the Group has not
recognized deferred tax assets for its unused tax loss of
RMB2,272,000 (2021: RMB2,279,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

M2022F12A318 - A B R ARIEEE
B AN R #2272,0000T(2021F : A R ¥
2,279,0007T) + A] A LA S5 R SRa A (& om B
BN N R B FE) o R2022912A318H A R
R TE R R HOR B - BN BN S pE R 8
R IEE B A R2,272,0007T (20214 + A
R #2,279,0007T ) i R E FE B 10 & E -
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23. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 23. EERIE (&)
At 31 December
M12831H

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR TR ARBFT

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H — 85

31 December 2025 202512 A31H 6 606

31 December 2026 202612 A31H 190 1,588

31 December 2027 2027F12A31H 2,076 —

Total #Et 2,272 2,279
Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on BB ERSERE - B2008F1A1H
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC He - AR BB A T Bt E R A R N SR A IR
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred tax has BAGHMNEMR - ARAKE G ERRZE
not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements RELHEHE  BZBREEENARARA
in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated BETNEER D  MAEHRTBENB AR R A
profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounted to RMB133,897,000 I FE 15 R B 2 58 A R %6133,897,0007T (2021
(2021: RMB116,275,000) as the Group is able to control the F: AR¥116,275,00070) X & 0F B %5 R &
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is VE R IER B R4 - 72022912 A310 - B
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the FARBERELERIEEE R AKY13,390,000

foreseeable future. The corresponding unrecognised deferred 70 (20214« AR %11,628,0007T) ©

tax liabilities as at 31 December 2022 was RMB13,390,000
(2021: RMB11,628,000).
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24. SHARE CAPITAL 24. B
Number of shares RMB'000
i 1n 2 B ARBFT
Ordinary shares of United States Dollar BRR0.01ET ([T 8
("US$") 0.01 each il
Authorised: JETE
At beginning and end of 2021 and 2022 20214 20224
FURFH 3,000,000,000 205,984
Issue and fully paid: BITRER
At beginning and end of 2021 and 2022 20214 20224
FURFE 1,000,000,000 66,192

25. RESERVES

25. #E

Other reserves

Other reserves were all generated in 2017, which represented
(1) a negative amount of RMB23,500,000 being the excess of
cash consideration paid for acquisition of Langfang Wantong
over its registered capital pursuant to the group
reorganisation; (2) an amount of RMB29,832,000 payables to
Mr. Wang Jianjun (Ms. Zhao's spouse) and Ms. Zhao by the
Group after deducting related tax charge which was waived by
them and accounted for as a deemed contribution to the
Group; and (3) a negative amount of RMB5,023,000
capitalised into share capital pursuant to the capitalisation
issue.

Statutory surplus reserve

Pursuant to the relevant PRC rules and regulations, the
subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in the PRC are required
to transfer no less than 10% of their profits after taxation,
after offsetting any prior years’ loss as determined under the
China Accounting Standards, to the statutory surplus reserve
until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered
capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before the
distribution of a dividend to shareholders of the PRC
subsidiaries. Statutory surplus reserve is non-distributable other
than in liquidation and can be used to make good previous
years' losses, if any, and may be converted into paid-in capital
in proportion to the existing interests of equity owners,
provided that the balance after such conversion is not less
than 25% of the registered capital.

H

FrAEMEBEER2017EEA  Hdh(1)E %
% A R #23,500,0007T & RIE S EEHWE
BHERAMZAHRSREBHEZMER
B QAREERNNBEAEEHIBERZ -
NTREELRE(BLTHRMB) RBELZITHR
T AR #29,832,0000 ' ZERBCERE
R WG AHAEENERAK XQ3)
BBEERMEBITENMERANEBSBEAR
#5,023,0007T °

ETE BB

RIEPEBEBRIIER AEERHEE
A 32 B9 B B8 & RIZRFEFNRR B A F EAR B
Best EREENEERR 1P R10%H
BRERENBEEZTRAMFE BE2RE
FEERERIFIME RE50% © 781 [ o B TR
REIBRR D KR 2 AR =% R - FRIF
EHEMBLARBE BAEERRBETA
FTURIK - EERBHEETRANEFBBEF
EHEENE) SRR EEE AR B
L PIEBIR BR EA - B MREHRTE
DREMEAHI25% ©
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26. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 26. iEZBHEL 2B BYE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Lease
liabilities
HEE®E
RMB’000
AR TR
At 1 January 2021 20211 H1H 613
Financing cash flows MERERE (626)
Interest expenses FEMX 28
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12A31H 15
New lease entered MEIHE 1,685
Financing cash flows MERSRE (690)
Interest expenses FERX 22
At 31 December 2022 2022412 4311 1,032
27. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 27. EXEREE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the FEEBEEERN BRASETEENESR
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while REEEERYE FANEBRESRERE
maximising the return to shareholders through the BEEL BHTREFAE®R KEEHE
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's BRABRABE—FRIETE-
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of borrowings and AEBENEAGEBELEERARBEER G (W
lease liabilities, if any, net of cash and cash equivalents and BIRNMRRSRASEBEMAREAEERZE
total equity of the Group. S ABEE o
The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on REBEBETHMANERNERE - RIBHEH
a regular basis. As part of this review, the management Re - BIEEZEREERKAREEREBE
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with the Bk  EREREENHERZ A5E2gH
capital. Based on recommendations of the management, the BEENEARLBITHEY  FEHEREXR
Group will balance its overall capital structure through raising WEiE -

of new capital, or issue of new debt.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

28. €M I A

Categories of financial instruments

a. ST ADiE

At 31 December

M12H831H
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREF T
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at amortised cost EEERATERN
SREE 249,481 223,697
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAFEFAERD
SREE 6,909 8,166
Financial liabilities TREE
Amortised cost 58 B 8,655 11,014

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's financial instruments consisted of financial
assets at FVTPL, other receivables, amounts due from
related parties, bank balances and cash and trade and
other payables. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk.

The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management of the Group manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

(i) Market risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the
financial risks of interest rates, foreign currency
and other price risk.

There has been no change to the manner in which
the Group manages and measures the risk from
prior year.

b. THAREEBBEIERER
AEENSRMITASKEAFETA
BEmemERE HtEUKRE &
WRAEE T RIB  RITEBR KRR AR
BHREMENFIA - BT AN
BERAENERE - EZEERITA
HE N RR 2 ET SRR (F X -
SRR REMERRR)  EERR
MR#EeRER -

4 fe] ) B2 5% 55 AL B B9 SR B T 3 e
AEBEEEEERERZFRAR
AN ARETELERE -

iy MHER
AEBKERHTIEMH N E
SIEE Be A B A5 R B 10 2 B R

G o
ZoN

BE—F AEEETRRH B
SEBEH AL WD) -
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

130

(@)

Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to lease liabilities. The Group is also
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to bank balances carried at prevailing market
interest rates promulgated by the People’s Bank of
China.

The Group currently does not have interest rate
hedging policy. However, management will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.

No sensitivity analysis is presented as the
management of the Group considered that the
exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising
from variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

(i)

Market risk (continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group collects all of the revenue in RMB and
incurs most of the expenditures as well as capital
expenditures in RMB.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

28. €W I A ()
b. ZREMREIEREZERBE@E

(i)

5 R ()

S 1R R
AEBPAREDIAARE W
B KA 7 s & AN B S2 IR BA
AR¥EEE-

REBINEHBECEREER
EBABENRERRREER
T

Assets Liabilities
EBE =R
At 31 December At 31 December

M12831H M12831H
2022 2021 2022 2021
20225 20214F 20225 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT ARBTRT AR®TT
HK$ BT 41,680 39,368 740 192

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation in
HK$ against RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% (2021: 5%) increase or decrease in RMB
against the relevant foreign currency. 5% (2021:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for
a 5% change in foreign currency rates.

2022 - EBWME R ARAR

B 5 T
AEBIEALBTAARSE
R B LB -

TRFFASEEE AR N AR
GN #E TE R #95% (20214F © 5% )
3 NSO D B U E 25% (2021
F 5% )RBMABANBEEE
12 A B P& 3R NS &L B 5 AT AR A
BRELRE  TREEBEEYIE
KRABHEZBEZHOTR -
BREDMERIFEAINEER
KREFEINETER - WRRERAR
HHNETE R EB5%IEHFHE -
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) TRMIAwW

132

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies b.

(continued)

(i) Market risk (continued)

TRtE R TR B R MERER (@

iy TWHERE)

Foreign currency risk (continued) SN (4B

Sensitivity analysis (continued) BREE 5 (&)

An analysis of sensitivity to currency risk for the REEHEERBROBRE ST
Group is as follows: m

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3MBLLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREETF T
Increase/(decrease) in post-tax profit FRBRB &R ﬂ 2
for the year o, Cr
— if RMB weakens against HK$ — B& }\E’r‘%‘ﬂ
BT E S 2,047 1,959
— if RMB strengthens against HK$ — BREARER
BT E R (2,047) (1,959)
Other price risk H 1815 )7 e

The Group invested in certain unquoted equity
securities for investee as detailed in note 17. The
Group monitors the price risk and will consider
hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.
Sensitivity analyses for unquoted equity securities
with fair value measurement categorised within
Level 3 were disclosed in note 28c.
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

(i)

Credit risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group's credit risk primarily relates to trade
receivables, other receivables and bank balances.
Amounts due from related parties as at 31
December 2021 were fully repaid as detailed in
note 32. The credit risk on bank balances is
limited because the bank balances are maintained
with creditworthy commercial banks in the PRC
and Hong Kong.

The Group provided impairment on other
receivables based on 12m ECL. The counterparties
of the Group’s other receivables are local
government or subsidiaries of local government.
For the purposes of internal credit risk
management, the Group uses past due
information to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition.
There is not past due record of other receivables.
In this regard, the Directors consider that the
Group's credit risk is not significantly increased.

EWMITRm

b.

(i)

2022 - EBWME R ARAR

TR EREERERBER@E

EER R

R|ERR - REBRRE TR
BOIETAEYEHERASEEHS
BHRANRSEERRIIAE G
%ﬁ#%%%Lﬁ%E%wmi
MEENEEHEEL -

REEMEERBREZHESRE
WeskIE ~ B fth e Uk FR A IR 1T 45
A B o M FE32FT R - R
20214F12 8318 J&E Ug 78 Bt
HEEHREE - BRITEBRTHR
TEEEANEERIEMER
T ALBHERTESHNEER
AR o

AEBEER12EABREEER
BhE A MR IR AHR BB B R
AEBEMERFENHF IR
77 TR 3% 3 07 B B 0 S
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 28. €@t T B
b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies b. EEEREIEBZNREEE

(continued)

(iliy  Liquidity risk management (i) mEBESRKLER
The following table details the Group’s remaining TRAVREEETESHAE
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial HFHENEEHE - ZRBER
liabilities. The table has been drawn up according SEAUEANINREASRNS
to the undiscounted cash flows of financial BMEERURRRERY - Z
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the ZAKZWWHERAESE SR
Group can be required to pay. The table includes g

both interest and principal cash flows.

Weighted Over 1 year Total
average Less than  but less than undiscounted Total carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years cash flows amount
i 1ENERE RERRSE
FHA = PIMF PR RELE  REELH
% RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000

% ARBTT ARMTR ARWTR AR®TR

At 31 December 2022 R2022%12 8318

Non-derivative financial liabilities FiTEEREE

Trade and other payables B 5 REMERFHE 8,655 = 8,655 8,655
Lease liabilities HEER 5.6% 547 547 1,094 1,032
Total M@t 9,202 547 9,749 9,687
At 31 December 2021 #20214612A318

Non-derivative financial liabilities FITEERERE

Trade and other payables B o RHEMEMHE 11,014 — 11,014 11,014
Lease liabilities HEAR 9.6% 25 — 25 15
Total @t 11,039 — 11,039 11,029
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 28. @ T A
c.  Fair value measurements of financial instruments . EBMIANAFEE=

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured REBEHHDEMIAERATETZ
at fair value for financial reporting purposes. T S -
Fair value of the Group's financial assets that are REBNEEEREERATFETEN
measured at fair value on a recurring basis CRMEEATE
The fair values of financial assets at FVTPL have been EAVTEFAERNEREEATE
arrived at based on the valuation performed by HG DEREASETHREENELIEE
Appraisal & Consulting Limited, an independent qualified BREEGHEMEGETHRBEMRERA
professional valuer not connected with the Group. AIPFTEITHMEH -
The following table gives information about how the fair TERETEHUNANETEMEERT
values of these financial assets are determined (in B E R (0 H 2 P A a4 BB R &
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used). ABIR) ©

Fair value as at

31 December  Fair value Valuation techniques  Significant
Financial assets 2022  hierarchy and key inputs unobservable input(s)
20225
124318 EER MR ERFUEER
SREE WATE AQAFEER TEBARE BAHE
RMB’000
AREFT
Financial assets at FVTPL 6,909  Level 3 Market approach: based P/B ratio: 0.61
— unlisted equity (2021: 8,166) E=# on the target companies’ (2021:0.74) (note)
investment financial performance DLOM: 30%
BATES ABRZN 6,909 and the multiples of Mm% : 0.61
CREE —FLT (20214 : comparable companies. (20214 : 0.74) (Fif )
P A% & 8,166) The key inputs are: BREmHRAERNE:
(1) Price to book ratio 30%
("P/B ratio")

(2) Discount for lack of
marketability (“DLOM")
migE: EREEAF
FHRARATELRD
afEE -
FEHAHBER ()T
RE(MERER]) QR
Z s T (5
cHERBETE]D

Note: An increase in the P/B ratio used in isolation would Wak: EBEAOTREENEEREA
result in an increase in the fair value measurement of the FEFAEBEHNEBREENFER
financial assets at FVTPL, and vice versa. A 5% increase/ EEM RZIDPR-MAEEMES
decrease in the P/B ratio holding all other variables R MEREE IR A5% 8 E B
constant would increase/decrease the carrying amount of BEEBEBEEM R ARE
the investment by RMB346,000 (2021: RMB408,000). 346,0007T (20214 = A R #408,000

TT) °
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28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 28. €@ T A )
c.  Fair value measurements of financial instruments ¢ SRIAMNAFETE@E
(continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements FE=MATEFEHYE
Financial assets
at FVTPL
BRAFEFTA
BRHNEemEE
RMB’000
AR T
At 1 January 2021 R2021FE1 A1H 8,900
Loss on fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL & A FEF ABZEN SR EE
R EEPEE (734)
At 31 December 2021 202112 H31H 8,166
Loss on fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL & QA F{E ABFEN L RMEE
RTEEHEE (1,257)
At 31 December 2022 %2022412 4318 6,909
Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that PR EEREER AN FEFTEN S H
are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis (but EERGRBENAFE(EERER
fair value disclosures are required) F1E)
The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of EERR ANV BRRPREBHEX
financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised cost AAENEREERAGENREER
in the consolidated financial statements approximate to HATFEBEE -

their fair values.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z2022F 12 A318 IE F[E

29. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 29. REHELTH

The Group as lessor AEBEEALMEA
Undiscounted lease payments receivable on lease are as REBHEEWHEENTOT
follows:
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR® Tt AREEF T
Within one year R—FR = 200
30. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 30. EARKIE
At 31 December
R12H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AE®T T ARBFT
Contracted but not provided for in the BEIHERRE 08 @&
consolidated financial statements: B
— Expenditure in respect of — E\BEEEFENRX
intangible assets 542 —

2022 - EBWME R ARAR
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31.

138

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The employees of the Group are members of a state-managed
retirement benefit scheme operated by the PRC Government
(the "Retirement Benefit Scheme”). The Group is required to
contribute 20% of the total monthly basic salaries of its
current employees to the Retirement Benefit Scheme to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the Retirement Benefit Scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) established under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in Hong Kong. The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group,
in funds under the control of trustees. For members of the
MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll
costs to the scheme, which is the only obligation for the
Group and the same amount is matched by the employee.

The total costs charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of approximately
RMB593,000 (2021: RMB427,000), represented contributions
paid and/or payable to the schemes by the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group had no forfeited contributions under the MPF Scheme
and Retirement Benefit Scheme which may be used by the
Group to reduce the existing level of contributions. There were
also no forfeited contributions available at 31 December 2022
and 2021 under the MPF Scheme and Retirement Benefit
Scheme which may be used by the Group to reduce the
contribution payable in future years.
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Related party balances

On 7 May 2021, the Company entered into a loan
agreement with China VAST Industrial Urban
Development Company Limited (F B ZHZEETELERE
BB AT, “China VAST”) (the “Loan Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the Company had
conditionally agreed to provide a loan in the principal
amount of RMB100,000,000 (or its equivalent in Hong
Kong dollars) to China VAST (or its designated nominee)
for a term of one year at an interest rate of 12% per
annum. Ms. Zhao is the controlling shareholder and a
non-executive director of the Company and a substantial
shareholder of China VAST and accordingly, China VAST
was regarded as a related party and a connected person
of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules.

On 16 May 2022, the Company and China VAST
entered into the deed of extension (the “Deed of
Extension”), pursuant to which the parties have
conditionally agreed that, among others, with effect
from 2 July 2022, the original repayment date (i.e. 1
July 2022) shall be extended for a period of 24 months,
and all the material terms and conditions of the Loan
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. In the
extraordinary general meeting held on 30 June 2022, the
resolution in relation to the Deed of Extension was
voted on by way of poll. As less than 50% of the votes
were cast in favour of the resolution, the resolution was
not passed by the independent shareholders as an
ordinary resolution of the Company. The principal and
interest on the loan was fully repaid in July 2022.

32. BEEA RS

(a)

28 5 7 A e
MR2021F5/878 » A2 F AR R
EXMHEBERARAA(FEESE])
ANERBE(EXMED - REE
i ARREAEGRERFEH
RHE(REBEERENREAEES
AR 100,000,000t (st £ ZE# T)
WEF BH—F FHNEAE12% -
W EARRARERBREIIEDT
EERFPHEAEENETERE At
BIEETHEE PEEREHE AL
Rl R 5 R A L o

2022958168 » AR R EFAHEHR
AIVERZEBE(ERRE]  Hit:
ANEREERGERE (R eRE)
H2022F7H28# - REEE H (A
2022F7A18) BRER24ME A - RERK
WEZ T BEERNGR GGG DA+
B RAVER - 7202256 A308 £17
ZREEIAEE EREEEREZ
REREUREFRETERR -BHR
TRBEREBDVNS0% 2 ZHEK
MZRBEARAEBYIRRBBEAR
RIZEBRBR - BERZAERFE
ER2022F7A PR RREEEE -
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 32. BBEE F X B (&)
(b) Related party transactions (b) EBEAIRS

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BHLLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T AREF T
Interest income FLE WA
China VAST B E 2R 2,186 2,078
Langfang VAST (note) BB 45 7= 2= (Bff &) 3,448 3,911
Total st 5,634 5,989
Note: Langfang VAST Urban Development Co., Ltd. (B35 % W By mEREEXEMEREERA A
ZEEXMEREARRAG, "Langfang VAST"), the (BB ER])  PEAERHEERE
designated nominee of China VAST. A e
() Compensation of key management personnel © FEEBTEABHM
The remuneration of directors, who are also key EE(ARATEZEEERE)MNTHINN
management, is disclosed in note 9. O E -
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position and

33. ARAMBRAAKRKRREE

BERARBAMBRARRERFBEEZHINEN

movements in the reserve of the Company were as follows: m
At 31 December
MA12H31H
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AR T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Equipment Byl 19 22
Investment in a subsidiary AN B QA = —
Right of use assets FREEE 1,032 —
1,051 22
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Dividend receivable JE W % B 19,800 19,800
Prepayments and other receivables T8 - FRIB K H h fE W 5k 1E 490 185
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG E ) 2,009 988
Amounts due from a related party JiE U — % A gk 5 IR — 36,438
Bank balances and cash WITHEB LIRS 40,862 2,060
63,161 59,471
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAEE
Other payables i & IE 60 177
Lease liabilities HEBE 502 —
562 177
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 62,599 59,294
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITY #EERABHER 63,650 59,316
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 530 —
NET ASSETS EEFE 63,120 59,316
CAPITAL AND RESERVE EXR#E
Share capital & 7R 66,192 66,192
Reserve ] (3,072) (6,876)
TOTAL EQUITY A 63,120 59,316
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 3
RESERVE OF THE COMPANY (continued)

w

AP BRMBEMRR R R FEE @

Movements in the Company’s reserve RARIHEE
Accumulated
losses
2it 8
RMB’000
AR®B TR
At 1 January 2021 R2021F181H (6,422)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year FABEREER LR (454)
At 31 December 2021 H2021F12H31H (6,876)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year FRRMNEEEBALRE 3,804
At 31 December 2022 7202212 A831H (3,072)
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34. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

As at the end of the reporting period, the Company has direct
and indirect equity interests in the following subsidiaries:

Place of
incorporation/
registration/

34.

RKRAIMBARAFE

RBEHRR  ARARBEUTHEARNE

e T ] 5 SR

Shareholding/equity
interests attributable to
the Company

Name of subsidiaries operations Registered capital At 31 December Principal activities
®W12A31A
BRI Aid Ve ARREERR
WELR AR EEBE HEMEX bl R TEEH
2022 2021
20226 2021F
Shing Sheng International Limited* BVI US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Shing Sheng International Limited* ~ EEEX#S (Ep REER
Wan Tong (HK) Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Ef(FB)BRAA B 1T REZR
Langfang Wantong (note a) PRC RMB32,000,000 100% 100%  Sales of burial plots,
B & () H AR #32,000,0007C columbarium units,
provision of other
burial-related services and
cemetery maintenance
services
HEEM BB RE
Hin 2 BHR%E R
ERSHERY
Langfang Wantongyuan Corporation ~ PRC US$30,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment Co., Ltd. (note b) H 30,000,000% 7t REER
BHERECEREERAR
(Fi35Eb)
BymERNBEERBEARLR PRC RMB500,000 100% 100%  Provision of funeral service
(note a) (Langfang City Wantong AR #500,0007T
Funeral Services Co., Ltd.)**
BHmEREEZREERAA i REBERS
(Fista)
Linkong Wantong (note a) PRC RMB30,000,000 79% 79%  Construction and operation
g (MTa) H (note ©) of cemetery and
A R #30,000,0007T cemetery maintenance
(Fzxc) services
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34. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 3. XRFMBARFEE@®
COMPANY (continued)

Notes: B 5

(@)  These companies are PRC limited liability companies. (@) ZERTARATEBRAT -

(b)  Langfang Wantongyuan Corporation Investment Co., Ltd. is a (b) P ERAECERERRATDSRFEK
wholly foreign owned company established in the PRC. SR EINERT -

() The paid in capital of Linkong Wantong was RMB500,000 at 31 (o) G2 B MMR2022F12A31EHNEHRES A
December 2022 (2021: RMB500,000) which was contributed by R #500,0007T (20214 : AR #500,0007T)
Langfang Wantong, and the non-controlling shareholder has not HEBHERTERIFETRBRERTE -
yet contributed any capital.

* Directly-held by the Company * HARREERE

**  English name for identification only o I A TEE MR

The Group does not have any subsidiaries issuing debt REARRERR  NEBTEEFE R

securities during the year and at the end of the reporting RIEITEBES -

period.
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